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The directors present their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2018. 
 

Principal Activities 
 
The Company’s principal activities are the development, operation and management of Malta International Airport. 
Malta International Airport p.l.c. has a 65-year concession to operate Malta’s airport, which came into effect in July 
2002. 
 
Malta International Airport p.l.c. has three 100% owned operating subsidiaries; Airport Parking Limited, Sky Parks 
Development Limited and Sky Parks Business Centre Limited. Airport Parking Limited operates all the car parks 
situated on the land leased to Malta International Airport p.l.c., whilst Sky Parks Development Limited and Sky Parks 
Business Centre Limited run the SkyParks Business Centre building. 
 
Malta International Airport p.l.c. also has another subsidiary; Kirkop PV Farm Limited, set up with the intention to 
explore opportunities in the generation of electricity using photovoltaic technologies. Kirkop PV Farm Limited, 
however, did not trade in 2018. 
 

Review of the Business and Outlook 
 

Traffic Development 

 
Passenger traffic for 2018 totalled 6,808,177 movements at Malta International Airport, marking the achievement of 
a new milestone and the airport’s ninth consecutive year of growth. 
 
Translating into a noteworthy increase of 13.2% over 2017, this annual all-time high was observed in parallel with a 
13.4% increase in aircraft movements and a growth of 14.0% in seat capacity. Seat load factor dropped marginally 
by 0.6 percentage points to stand at 81.8%. 
 
A total of 28 new developments were introduced in 2018 as new routes were launched and a number of carriers 
increased the frequency on existing routes or extended their summer schedules into the shoulder period. Cargo and 
mail handled throughout the year reached 17,684 tonnes, an increase of 9.3% over the previous year. 
 
Ryanair carried the highest number of passengers in 2018, registering an 11.3% increase in passenger movements 
over the previous year. This growth was due to the airline basing an additional aircraft at Malta International Airport 
as from summer 2018, introducing 9 new routes and extending 8 routes into the winter schedule. 
 
Air Malta registered a 22.5% increase in passenger movements, following a 23.6% increase in seat capacity. The 
airline added 2 aircraft to its fleet in 2018 and introduced a total of 13 new routes.  
 

Traffic Highlights 

 

 
  

2018 2017 +/- % Change

Passenger Movements 6,808,177     6,014,548     793,629        13.2%

Aircraft Movements 48,737          42,987          5,750            13.4%

Seat Capacity 8,329,997     7,306,790     1,023,207     14.0%

Seat Load Factor 81.8% 82.4% -0.6 pp

MTOW (in tonnes) 1,951,299     1,726,644     224,655        13.0%

Cargo and Mail (in tonnes) 17,684          16,177          1,507            9.3%
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(continued) 
 
 

Operational Performance Indicators 

 
More than 300 airports worldwide, covering more than half the world’s annual passengers, participate in a survey 
which measures the quality of the airport service to its customers. This survey, known as the ASQ (Airport Service 
Quality) survey, developed by Airports Council International (ACI) is also carried out at Malta International Airport. 
Departing passengers are interviewed whilst waiting at the gate and are asked to rate their experience at that 
particular airport. The ASQ survey rates the airport’s performance in key service areas constituting both the 
departures and the arrivals experience of passengers. 
 
MIA has been participating in the ASQ survey since 2005 and has consistently ranked as one of the top five airports 
in Europe over the past years, across all airport size categories. In 2018, MIA received the highest overall passenger 
satisfaction score, with its ranking among European airports to be confirmed at the end of February 2019. This score 
gains more significance given the strong traffic increase, particularly in the last 3 years, and the significant challenges 
presented by ongoing works in many parts of the terminal throughout 2018. The target of the Company is that the 
airport will continue to rank within the top ASQ positions in Europe in the foreseeable future. 
 
The overall ASQ performance indicators (measured out of 5, with 5 being the highest mark) for the four quarters of 
2018, compared to 2017, are listed below: 
 

 
 
 

Infrastructural Investments 

 
In 2018, total investment in the infrastructural development of the airport campus amounted to EUR 8.4 million.  
 
In a bid to enhance the passenger experience even further, the Company proceeded with terminal infrastructure 
upgrades, with an overall investment of EUR 2.7 million. In 2018, the Terminal Reconfiguration Project, which is 
nearing completion, encompassed the installation of eight additional check-in desks as well as an upgrade of the 
baggage handling system. Other terminal improvements, such as the refurbishment of public washrooms and the 
replacement of terminal signage, were made alongside these reconfiguration works. 
 
On the airfield, the Company completed the resurfacing of Taxiway Delta and set into motion major projects such 
as pavement surface rehabilitation works on Apron 8 and the resurfacing of Taxiway Echo, with investment in these 
upgrades totalling EUR 2.2 million. An additional EUR 2.6 million were invested in security and operations-related 
facilities and equipment, in an effort to further reinforce the safety, security and efficiency of the airport and its 
operations. 
 
The last quarter of 2018 saw the Company kick off works on the construction of its EUR 20 million parking village. 
Scheduled for completion in 2020, this project will introduce 1,300 covered car parking spaces on the airport campus, 
a centralised area of operation for car rental companies, and a tunnel linking to a walkway leading to the terminal 
building. 
 
In 2019, investments will reach over EUR 20 million. In addition to works on the parking village, the Company will 
invest EUR 2.0 million in terminal improvements, whilst also continuing its efforts to improve the airfield infrastructure 
by investing EUR 3.3 million in projects such as the continuation of the resurfacing of Taxiway Echo and the 
rehabilitation works on Apron 8. An additional EUR 4.7 million will be dedicated to projects related to operations and 
security, with a focus on the installation of new baggage scanners as well as the procurement of a new fire vehicle 
as part of a three-year programme to upgrade the airport’s fire vehicle fleet. 
  

2018 2017 +/-

1st Quarter 4.50             4.23             0.27             

2nd Quarter 4.26             4.31             (0.05)            

3rd Quarter 4.37             4.33             0.04             

4th Quarter 4.37             4.41             (0.04)            

Average for the year 4.36             4.32             0.04             
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(continued) 
 
 
The Company also envisages to finalise plans for the multi-million-euro development of an additional aircraft parking 
area – Apron 10 - in 2019. Apron 10 will cater for either seven additional stands for Code C medium-sized aircraft 
or four stands for Code E wide-bodied aircraft, thereby equipping the airport with additional airfield capacity for the 
long term. Furthermore, the Company plans to have in hand detailed plans for the SkyParks 2 project by the end of 
2019, which will add another 22,000 sqm of office and commercial space and introduce a business hotel of 4,100 
sqm to the airport campus. 
 

Principal Risk and Uncertainties 

 
The Board as a whole, including the Audit Committee members, consider the nature and the extent of the risk 
management framework and the risk profile that is acceptable to the Board. The Audit Committee periodically 
reviews the work carried out by the Risk Management Committee of the Company and evaluates the impact these 
risks pose to the Company’s strategic objectives. 
 
The main strategic, corporate and operational risks and uncertainties identified during the year are broadly the same 
as those of previous years and are listed below: 
 
Security threats: The Company is committed to investing heavily year on year in ensuring that airport guests, 
employees and stakeholders remain safe and secure at all times. MIA works closely with the police and government 
security agencies to ensure that its security facilities and processes meet the high standards required to respond to 
new and existing security threats. The Company’s security facilities and processes are subject to extensive internal 
and external inspections and audits by regulators, external specialists and internal teams, which regularly test the 
effectiveness of the Company’s surveillance, security screening, landside and airside security processes as well as 
staff training requirements. 
 
Disruption to operations: The Company has emergency response, crisis management and business continuity 
plans in place, which are regularly tested and updated to ensure that it is able to respond quickly and effectively to 
any disruptions to its operations. The Company is also adequately covered by an insurance programme which 
provides financial protection in the case of major operational disruptions. 
 
Downturn in traffic: The Company is mindful of possible downturns in passenger traffic as a result of adverse 
scenarios such as international terrorism, economic crises in its main markets, or changes in the strategies of 
airlines operating to and from Malta International Airport. The Company collaborates closely with these partner 
airlines as well as with other key tourism stakeholders, and is continuously seeking to secure traffic from new 
markets by developing new routes and attracting new airlines to sustain passenger growth of the airport. 
 

Outlook 

 
Looking ahead to 2019, Ryanair will base an additional 6th aircraft at Malta International Airport, enabling the launch 
of a significant number of new routes, whilst Air Malta will be extending their new German routes launched in 
November 2018 into the summer schedule. 2019 will also see the introduction of a new airline, Qatar Airways 
operating from Doha. In addition to being a new point-to-point route, Doha will primarily serve as a hub for Qatar 
Airways’ extensive inter-continental route network. 
 
Wizz Air will introduce a new flight from the second largest city in Hungary, Debrecen, and low-cost airline Volotea 
will launch two new routes from their Italian bases in Genoa and Verona. An additional weekly turnaround from the 
TUI cruise ship will operate throughout the summer months and consequently result in an increase in charter traffic 
from Germany. 
 
The growth in traffic will be partially offset by some reductions in capacity and discontinued routes. 
 
Save for any extraordinary or unpredictable events, the Company’s outlook for 2019 remains positive. The Company 
is, therefore, forecasting an increase in seat capacity, stemming from the above-mentioned developments, and our 
projections indicate that passenger movements will reach an overall 7.2 million passengers, which is an increase of 
approximately 6% over 2018 figures.  
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(continued) 
 
 

Employees 
 
The Company invests significantly in its people as it recognises the importance of the continuous professional 
development of its human resources. During 2018, employees collectively benefitted from over 8,800 hours of formal 
training, amounting to an average of around 24 hours per employee. This figure excludes 640 hours of classroom-
based training that was provided to new Customer Services employees as well any induction and on-the-job training 
given. The bulk of training provided, over 3,000 hours, was related to safety, followed by professional development 
courses which were responsible for an additional 2,000 hours. Employee feedback on the training provided was 
very encouraging, with an average of 88% of employees feeling satisfied with the learning outcomes and finding the 
content informative and useful. 
 
During the year, the Company continued with a series of initiatives, to encourage a healthy work-life balance 
amongst its workforce, which included the very popular free gym membership. 2018 also saw the introduction of a 
wellbeing allowance to encourage employees to lead a healthier lifestyle. This allowance covers participation in 
sports activities, visits to a nutritionist, and upgrades of the health insurance cover that the Company provides for 
its employees. Around 260 employees benefitted from this allowance throughout the year. 
 
In May 2018, a new collective agreement covering the period from 2018 to 2022 was reached between the Company 
and the two unions that have shared joint staff representation: Union Ħaddiema Magħqudin (UĦM) and General 
Workers Union (GWU). The new agreement covers annual salary increases until 2022 as well as the introduction of 
a performance bonus system that is linked to the Company’s strategic objectives. It also provides more flexibility to 
the ever-increasing operational demands of the airport, through the introduction of new shift timings. 
 
The number of employees of the Company at the end of 2018 was 357, an increase of 14.8% when compared to 
the status at the end of 2017. Of these, 9 were employed with two of the fully-owned subsidiaries of the Company: 
Airport Parking Limited and Sky Parks Business Centre Limited.  
 
The average employee age was 39 and the average length of service with the Company was 10 years. 
 
 

Corporate Responsibility 
 
The directors are committed to the highest standards of Corporate Responsibility (CR), particularly in the social, 
economic and environmental fields. The Company’s internal and external CR initiatives benefit its key stakeholders, 
notably airport guests, partners, employees and shareholders, and enable the Company to honour its pledge of 
being a responsible player within the wider community. 
 
In 2018, the Company undertook several such initiatives aimed at removing, reducing or mitigating any negative 
impacts, whilst building upon positive ones. These initiatives and their outcomes are reported upon in more detail, 
and in a transparent manner, in the Company’s sustainability report, which is compiled annually in accordance with 
the internationally recognised Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) standards.   
 
During 2018, the Company strived to lower its greenhouse gas emissions intensity per passenger further through 
the introduction of more energy-efficient systems, and focused upon the reduction of its water consumption. In 
addition to these environmental targets, the Company continued to encourage its employees to use alternative 
means of transportation instead of their vehicles, rewarding team members who chose to carpool or travel to work 
by bus, bicycle or on foot. This initiative will also be driven by the Company throughout 2019.  
 
An important social initiative for 2018 was the launch of the Journey Facilitation Programme for passengers with 
autism, complemented by the delivery of sensitivity training to the airport’s front-liners. Ever since its introduction in 
April 2018, this service, which is tailor-made to the needs of passengers with autism and family members 
accompanying them on a trip, has been availed of by more than 180 people, allowing them to enjoy a more pleasant 
airport experience. 
 
The Company’s external CR initiatives, on the other hand, are channelled through the Malta Airport Foundation; an 
independent body set up to invest funds into Malta’s touristic, cultural and environmental heritage.  
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New projects for 2018 included the granting of financial support for the exploration and study of an underwater site 
off Xlendi, where a shipwreck harbouring very well-preserved mixed Phoenician cargo was discovered, and the 
sponsorship of sea bins in Marsaxlokk and Marsascala. In 2018, the Malta Airport Foundation announced that it 
would be supporting the University of Malta in conducting research on a centuries-old triptych dedicated to the Virgin 
of the Succours, which forms part of the Mdina Cathedral Museum Collection. 
 
Moreover, in 2018, the Foundation registered progress on a number of projects that were launched in previous 
years, such as the restoration of the Combined Operations Room in Valletta and landscaping works on the boundary 
area adjacent to the newly restored Torri Xutu. The Foundation also released the first-ever underwater, natural and 
anthropological documentary about Comino, whose diverse marine life and stunning geomorphology have led it to 
be included in Malta’s North-East Marine Protected Area. 
 
 

Financial Performance 
 

Financial Results 

 
In 2018, the revenue of the Group increased by EUR 9.8 million when compared to 2017, from EUR 82.4 million to 
EUR 92.2 million, translating into an increase of 11.9%. Airport Segment revenues rose by EUR 6.5 million; from 
EUR 59.0 million to EUR 65.5 million, whilst revenues from the Retail and Property Segment were up EUR 3.3 
million; from EUR 23.0 million to EUR 26.3 million. 
 
Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) of the Group increased by 12.1%, from 
EUR 48.6 million to EUR 54.4 million, whilst the EBITDA margin remained stable at 59.0%. Profit before tax rose 
from EUR 37.6 million in 2017 to EUR 47.1 million in 2018, representing an increase of 25.4%. Total comprehensive 
income for the year attributable to shareholders net of tax for the Group reached EUR 30.4 million, up 25.7% when 
compared to EUR 24.2 million in the previous year. 
 
The financial results of the Group for 2018 were driven by another substantial increase in the volume of passenger 
traffic. Passenger movements for 2018 reached the record 6.8 million mark; a 13.2% growth over the previous year, 
giving rise to a significant increase in the turnover of the Group. Another factor that contributed to the significant 
increase in profitability for the year under review was the early repayment of debt that took place in the last quarter 
of 2017. 
 

Revenues 

 
Revenues from the Airport segment increased by 11.1% and constituted 71.1% of the total revenues of the Group 
(2017: 71.6%). Aviation-related revenues remain the most important income stream of the Group. 
 
Revenues from the Retail & Property segment were 14.5% higher than in the previous year and constituted 28.5% 
(2017: 27.9%) of the total revenue of the Group. 
 
The remaining portion of 0.4% of revenues originated from the Other segment, which has remained practically 
unchanged from last year (2017: 0.5%). 
 

Staff Costs 

 
Staff costs of the Group in 2018 amounted to EUR 9.7 million, up EUR 1.7 million when compared to 2017. This 
increase of 21.2% during the year under review resulted from the recruitment of more staff necessitated by the 
strong growth in traffic, as well as the signing of a new collective agreement in May 2018 providing for better benefits 
for the Company’s employees. 
 

Other Operating Expenses 

 
In 2018, the operating costs of the Group of EUR 28.0 million were higher than those of 2017 by EUR 2.3 million; 
an increase of 8.8%. This was the result of a number of factors, the main one being higher maintenance costs as 
well as additional costs as a result of increased passenger volumes passing through the airport during 2018. 
  



Malta International Airport p.l.c. 
 

Directors’ Report 
 
Year Ended 31 December 2018 

7 
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Finance Cost 

 
The significant reduction in finance costs compared to the previous year is largely due to the payment of a one-off 
early repayment fee of EUR 2.8 million in late 2017. Interest expenditure during 2018 was also significantly less 
than in the comparative period as a result of the debt repayments made in the same transaction in 2017 and the 
settlement of the remaining bank loans early in 2018. 
 

Comprehensive Income and Dividends 

 
The financial results of the Group and the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018 are shown in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income on page 21. The total comprehensive income of the Group for the year after 
taxation amounted to EUR 30,366,713 (2017: EUR 24,154,410). 
 
Further to the net interim dividends paid of EUR 4,059,000 (Gross: EUR 6,244,615), the Board of Directors is 
recommending the payment of a final net dividend of EUR 0.09 per share (Gross: EUR 0.138) on all shares settled 
as at close of business on 15 April 2019, which dividend shall be paid not later than the 29 May 2019. 
 

Financial Position 

 
The profit for the year, net of dividends paid together with shareholders’ funds brought forward from the prior year, 
resulted in shareholders’ funds as at 31 December 2018 of EUR 112,611,257 and EUR 113,427,723 for the Group 
and the Company, respectively. These totals were up from EUR 95,748,351 and EUR 97,815,138 respectively as 
at year end 2017. 
 

Going Concern 

 
After reviewing the Company’s budget for the next financial year and its other longer-term plans, the directors are 
satisfied that, at the time of approving the financial statements, it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the Financial Statements. 
 

Financial Risk Management 

 
Financial risks of the Group and the Company identified during the year and their financial risk management 
objectives are outlined in detail in Note 38 of the Financial Statements. 
 

Financial Key Performance Indicators 

 

  

(in EUR mn) 2018 +/- 2017 +/- 2016

Total Revenue 92.2          11.9% 82.4          12.7% 73.1          

thereof Aviation Revenue 65.5          11.1% 59.0          14.6% 51.5          

thereof Non-Aviation Revenue 26.7          14.1% 23.4          8.3% 21.6          

EBITDA 54.4          12.1% 48.6          21.5% 40.0          

EBITDA Margin (in %) 59.0% 0.1 pp 59.0% 4.2 pp 54.7%

EBIT 47.0          14.3% 41.2          24.2% 33.2          

EBIT Margin (in %) 51.0% 1.1 pp 50.0% 4.6 pp 45.4%

Net Profit 30.3          25.6% 24.2          15.1% 21.0          

ROCE (in %) 30.0% 2.9 pp 27.0% 6.4 pp 20.6%

Cash Flow from Operating Activities 36.8          -13.7% 42.7          56.4% 27.3          

Equity 112.6        17.6% 95.8          12.5% 85.1          

Balance Sheet Total 169.8        -7.1% 182.9        6.1% 172.4        

Capital Expenditure 8.4            -39.7% 14.0          95.8% 7.2            

Net Debt (20.3)         276.1% (5.4)          n.a. 9.8            

Taxes on Income 16.8          24.9% 13.4          17.6% 11.4          

Average Employees (No.) 340           10.7% 307           1.0% 304           
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Share Capital 

 
The share capital of the Company is EUR 33,825,000 divided into three classes of shares as follows: 
 

• 81,179,990 Ordinary ‘A’ Shares representing approximately 60% of the total issued share capital; 

• 54,120,000 Ordinary ‘B’ Shares representing 40% of the total issued share capital; and  

• 10 Ordinary ‘C’ Shares.   
 
All shares issued have a nominal value of EUR 0.25, are fully paid up and allotted. 
 
The ordinary “A” Shares are admitted to the official list of the Malta Stock Exchange, whilst the ordinary “B” and 
ordinary “C” Shares are not admitted or traded on an exchange.  
 
The Ordinary ‘A’ Shares and Ordinary ‘B’ Shares shall entitle their holders to the same rights, benefits and powers 
in the Company save for the transferability thereof. The Ordinary ‘A’ Shares shall be freely transferable whilst the 
Ordinary ‘B’ Shares were non-transferable for a period of fifteen (15) years from 26 July 2002, upon which date they 
automatically became fully and freely transferable without the need of any formality. 
 
The Class ‘C’ Share is held by and, in terms of the Memorandum of Association, may only be held by the Government 
of Malta. It does not carry any right to receive dividends or assets on a winding up or other return of capital but entitle 
the Government of Malta to appoint members on the National Interest Matters Committee pursuant to article 58.10 
of the Articles of Association of the Company. 
 
Save for the above there are no other restrictions attached to the shares of the Company. 
 
No changes in the share capital of the Company were made nor did the Company acquire ownership of, or any 
rights over, any portion of its own share capital. 
 
The following shareholders have an interest in more than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company: 
 

• Malta Mediterranean Link Consortium Ltd 

• Government of Malta 

• VIE (Malta) Ltd 
 
 

Directors 
 

Appointment and replacement of directors 

 
The Board of Directors of the Company is made up of a maximum of eight (8) directors. Five (5) directors are Non-
Executive Directors and a maximum of three (3) directors, amongst whom is the CEO, are Executive Directors. 
 
Any shareholder holding not less than 20% of the issued share capital of the Company having voting rights is entitled 
to appoint one director for each 20% shareholding by a letter addressed to the Company. In this respect, Malta 
Mediterranean Link Consortium Limited is entitled to appoint two (2) Non-Executive Directors and the Government 
of Malta is entitled to appoint one (1) Non-Executive Director. The remaining Non-Executive Directors are appointed 
by the shareholders in a general meeting pursuant to the Articles of Association. 
 
Unless appointed for a longer term, a director holds office from one Annual General Meeting to the next and is 
eligible for re-appointment. The maximum period for which a director may be appointed is a term of three (3) years, 
following the lapse of which, such director shall be eligible for re-appointment. 
 
In terms of the Articles of Association, the CEO of the Company shall occupy one of the Executive Director positions. 
The other Executive Directors to be co-opted to the Board are the Chief Finance Officer and the Chief Commercial 
Officer. 
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Powers of Directors 

 
The directors of the Company have all the powers necessary to manage and direct the Company. The Company is 
empowered to buy back any of its shares, subject to the limitations and restrictions at law and the listing rules. 
Subject to the authority of shareholders, to be given at five (5) year intervals, the directors are also empowered to 
issue further shares in the Company. 
 

Directors 

 
The directors who served during the year were: 
 

 
 
In accordance with paragraph 56.1 of the Company’s Articles of Association all the present directors are to retire at 
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. The appointment of the new directors will take place in accordance with 
paragraphs 55 and 56 of the same Articles of Association at the Annual General Meeting. 
 

Directors’ Interests in Material Contracts 

 
The following directors have declared their interests in the share capital of the Group: 
 

• Mr Nikolaus Gretzmacher a non-beneficial interest1 

• Ms Rita Heiss a non-beneficial interest2 

• Dr. Cory Greenland a beneficial interest 
 
No other director has a beneficial or non-beneficial interest in the Company’s share capital. 
 

Auditor 
 
A resolution to reappoint Deloitte Audit Limited as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting. 
 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors on 20 February 2019 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Nikolaus Gretzmacher Alan Borg Karl Dandler 
Chairman Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 

 

                                                           
 

1 These shares are held by MMLC and VIE Malta Limited, companies of which Mr Gretzmacher is a director. 
2 These shares are held by MMLC and VIE Malta Limited, companies of which Ms Heiss is a director. 

 Director  Title Director since

Mr Nikolaus Gretzmacher Chairman & Non-Executive Director 2012

Ms Rita Heiss Non-Executive Director 2015

Dr. Cory Greenland Non-Executive Director 2015

Dr. Wolfgang Koeberl Non-Executive Director 2016

Mr Florian Nowotny Non-Executive Director 2017

Mr Alan Borg CEO and Executive Director 2012

Mr Karl Dandler CFO and Executive Director 2014
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The directors are required by the Companies Act (Cap. 386) to prepare financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU which give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the Company and the Group at the end of each financial year, and of the profit or loss of the Company and 
the Group for the year then ended. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors should: 
 

• select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently; 

• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable; and 

• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the Company and the Group will continue in business as a going concern. 

 
The directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and the Group and which enable the directors to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act (Cap. 386). This responsibility includes designing, 
implementing and maintaining such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The directors are 
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group, and hence for taking reasonable steps 
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
Statement of responsibility pursuant to the Listing Rules issued by the Listing Authority 
 
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge: 
 

a) In accordance with the Listing Rules the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2018 and of their financial performance and 
cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the EU; and  

 
b) In accordance with Listing Rules the Directors’ Report includes a fair review of the performance of the 

business and the financial position of the issuer and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken 
as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Karl Dandler 
Chief Financial Officer 

obo/directors 
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Introduction 
 
Pursuant to the Listing Rules issued by the Listing Authority, Malta International Airport p.l.c. (the “Company”) should 
endeavor to adopt the Code of Principles of Good Corporate Governance contained in Appendix 5.1 to Chapter 5 
of the Listing Rules (the “Code”). In terms of Listing Rule 5.94, the Company hereby reports on the extent of its 
adoption of the principles of the Code for the financial year being reported upon.  
 
The Company acknowledges that the Code does not dictate or prescribe mandatory rules, but recommends 
principles of good practice. However, the directors strongly believe that such practices are generally in the best 
interests of the Company and its shareholders and that compliance with the principles of good corporate governance 
is not only expected by investors but also evidences the directors’ and the Company’s commitment to a high 
standard of governance. 
 
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) has carried out a review of the Company’s compliance with the Code for the 
financial year being reported upon, namely the year ended 31 December 2018. 
 

General 
 
The directors believe that good corporate governance is a function of a mix of checks and balances that best suit 
the Company and its business. Accordingly, whilst there are best practices that can be of general application, the 
structures that may be required within the context of larger companies are not necessarily and objectively the best 
structures for companies whose size and/or business dictate otherwise. It is in this context that the directors have 
adopted a corporate governance framework within the Company that is designed to better suit the Company, its 
business, scale and complexity whilst still ensuring proper checks and balances. 
 
The Company has a corporate decision-making and supervisory structure that is tailored to suit the Company’s 
requirements and designed to ensure the existence of adequate checks and balances within the Company, whilst 
retaining an element of flexibility. 
 
In general, the directors believe that the Company has adopted appropriate structures to achieve an adequate level 
of good corporate governance, together with an adequate system of checks and balances in line with the Company’s 
requirements. 
 
This corporate governance statement (the “Statement”) will now set out the structures and processes in place within 
the Company and how these effectively achieve the goals set out in the Code. For this purpose, this Statement will 
make reference to the pertinent principles of the Code and then set out the manners in which the directors believe 
that these have been adhered to. Where the Company has not complied with any of the principles of the Code, this 
Statement will give an explanation for non-compliance. 
 
For the avoidance of doubt, reference in this Statement to compliance with the principles of the Code means 
compliance with the Code’s main principles, and the Code Provisions. 
 

Compliance with the Code 
 

Principle One: The Board 

 
The directors believe that for the period under review the Company has generally complied with the requirements 
of this principle and the relative code provisions. 
 
The Board is composed of members who are fit and proper to direct the business of the Company with honesty, 
competence and integrity. All the members of the Board are fully aware of, and conversant with, the statutory and 
regulatory requirements connected to the business of the Company. The Board is accountable for its performance 
and that of its delegates too. 
 
The Board is responsible for determining the Company’s strategic aims and organisational structure, whilst ensuring 
that the Company has the appropriate mix of financial and human resources to meet its objectives and improve its 
performance. Throughout the period under review, the Board provided the necessary leadership in the overall 
direction of the Company and has adopted prudent and effective systems whereby it obtains timely information from 
the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) as the head of the Executive Committee to ensure an open dialogue between 
the CEO and directors at regular intervals and not only at meetings of the Board.  
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The Company has a structure that ensures a mix of Executive and Non-Executive Directors that enables the Board, 
and particularly the Non-Executive Directors to have direct information about the Company’s performance and 
business activities from the head of executive management that is also a director on the Board. 
 
 

Principle Two: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

 
In line with the requirements of Principle Two, the Company has segregated the functions of the CEO and the 
Chairman. Whilst the CEO heads the Executive Committee, the Chairman’s main function is to lead the Board and 
set its agenda. The Chairman is also responsible to ensure that the Board receives precise, timely and objective 
information so that the directors can take sound decisions and effectively monitor the performance of the Company. 
The Chairman exercises independent judgement and ensures that, during Board meetings, there is effective 
communication with stakeholders as well as active engagement by all directors for the discussion of complex and/or 
contentious issues. 
 
The CEO is accountable to the Board of the Company for all business operations. He has the power and authority 
to appoint the persons to fill in the post of each member of the Executive Committee. He also has the discretion to 
ask any one or more of such members, from time to time, to address the Board on matters relating to the operations 
of the Company and its Subsidiaries. The Board, of course, is entitled to call in, at its discretion, any one or more of 
the executives of the Company. 
 
 

Principle Three: Composition of the Board 

 
The full complement of the Board, in line with Principle Three is of five (5) Non-Executive Directors and three (3) 
Executive Directors, a balance that is entrenched in the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association, which 
requires that the CEO is an ex ufficio director together with a maximum of two (2) other senior executives of the 
Company. The presence of top executives on the Board is designed to ensure that all the members of the Board, 
including Non-Executive Directors, have direct access at meetings of directors to the individuals having the prime 
responsibility for day-to-day operations and executive management of the Company and to the implementation of 
policies that allow effective discussion and the availability of all the information necessary to carry out their functions 
in the best possible manner. 
 
The members of the Board for the year under review were: 
 

 
 
Pursuant to generally accepted practices, as well as the Company's Articles of Association, the appointment of 
directors to the Board is reserved exclusively to the Company's shareholders, except in so far as an appointment is 
made to fill a vacancy on the Board. 
 
The Board normally meets every eight (8) weeks and as a matter of Board policy, a guideline was established 
whereby at its first meeting, meetings are scheduled for the full year. Board meetings concentrate mainly on strategy, 
operational performance and financial performance. The Board also delegates specific responsibilities to the CEO 
and the Committees, notably the Executive Committee and the Audit Committee which operate under their 
respective formal terms of reference. Directors may, in the furtherance of their duties, take independent professional 
advice on any matter at the Company's expense. 
 
For the purposes of Code Provision 3.2, requiring the Board to report on whether it considers each Non-Executive 
Director as independent in line with the requirements of that Code Provision, the Board considers each of the Non-
Executive Directors as independent within the meaning of the Code. 
  

 Director  Title Director since

Mr Nikolaus Gretzmacher Chairman & Non-Executive Director 2012

Ms Rita Heiss Non-Executive Director 2015

Dr. Cory Greenland Non-Executive Director 2015

Dr. Wolfgang Koeberl Non-Executive Director 2016

Mr Florian Nowotny Non-Executive Director 2017

Mr Alan Borg CEO and Executive Director 2012

Mr Karl Dandler CFO and Executive Director 2014
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Save for what is stated hereunder, none of the Non-Executive Directors: 
 

(a) are or have been employed in any capacity by the Company; 

(b) have or have had a significant direct or indirect relationship with the Company; 

(c) receive significant additional remuneration from the Company; 

(d) have close family ties with any of the executive members of the Board; 

(e) have served on the Board for more than twelve consecutive years; 

(f) have been within the last three years an engagement partner or a member of the audit team of the present 
or past external auditor of the Company or any Company forming part of the same group; and 

(g) have a significant business relationship with the Company. 

 
Mr Nikolaus Gretzmacher, and Ms Rita Heiss (Non-Executive Directors) are currently members of the Board of 
Directors of Malta Mediterranean Link Consortium Limited, a Company holding 40 per cent of the issued and voting 
capital of the Company, and, together with Dr. Wolfgang Koeberl are also employees of Flughafen Wien AG, the 
company’s ultimate parent company. Notwithstanding the above relationship the Board still considers Mr 
Gretzmacher, Ms Heiss and Dr. Koeberl as having the required skills, experience and integrity to retain their 
impartiality in acting as directors of the Company.  
 
In terms of Principle 3.4, each Non-Executive Director has declared in writing to the Board that he/she undertakes: 
 

• to maintain in all circumstances his/her independence of analysis, decision and action; 

• not to seek or accept any unreasonable advantages that could be considered as compromising his/her 
independence; and 

• to clearly express his/her opposition in the event that he/she finds that a decision of the Board may harm 
the Company. 

 
 

Principle Four: The Responsibilities of the Board 

 
In line with the requirements of Principle Four, it is the Board’s responsibility to ensure a system of accountability, 
monitoring, strategy formulation and policy development. 
 
The Board believes that this responsibility includes the appropriate delegation of powers to management and the 
organization of the executive team in a manner that is designed to provide high levels of comfort to the directors that 
there is proper monitoring and accountability apart from appropriate implementation of policies. The Board delegates 
specific responsibilities to committees, which operate under their respective formal Terms of Reference. 
 
 

Executive Committee 

The Board’s link to the Executive Committee is principally the CEO, together with the other Executive Director on 
the Board, both of whom are members of the Executive Committee.  
 
The Executive Committee comprises the Executive Directors and the heads of each business unit of the Group. The 
role of the Executive Committee is to implement the Company`s strategy and policies, through the various 
departments within the organisation. It also makes recommendations to the Board on matters which are beyond its 
remit. The Chief Executive Officer chairs the Executive Committee. 
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The members of the Committee for the period under review were: 
 

 
 
The Executive Committee has met 37 times during the year under review. 
 
 

Other Cross-Functional Committees 

The Company has also established three cross-functional Committees, the Corporate Responsibility (CR) 
Committee, the Customer Experience (CE) Committee and the Finance Committee, which meet on a regular basis. 
 
The CR Committee is responsible for the Company’s internal CR policy and strategy including the respective 
formulation and implementation thereof. 
 
The CE Committee systematically deals with how to improve the airport’s customer experience with a special focus 
on user journeys, touch points, pain points and delighters (“wow”-factors). 
 
The Finance Committee analyses the financial information on a monthly and quarterly basis with a special focus on 
current and future income streams, cost drivers and margins to secure sustainable growth of the Company. 
 
The Chief Executive Officer chairs these cross-functional Committees and all meetings are minuted. 
 
 

Audit Committee 

As part of its corporate governance structures the Company has an Audit Committee in line with the requirements 
of the Listing Rules. The principal roles of the Audit Committee are in line with the requirements of Listing Rule 5.127 
and include the following: 
 

• monitoring the financial reporting process and submitting recommendations or proposals to ensure its 
integrity; 

• monitoring of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal quality control and risk management system 
and, where applicable, its internal audit, regarding the financial reporting of the Company, without 
breaching its independence; 

• monitoring of the audit of the annual and consolidated financial statements; 

• reviewing additional reports prepared by the statutory auditor/s or audit firm/s; 

• reviewing and monitoring the independence of the statutory auditors or the audit firms; 

• taking responsibility for the procedure for the selection of statutory auditor/s or audit firm/s; and 

• recommending the statutory auditor/s or the audit firm/s to be appointed. 
  

Name  Title

Mr Alan Borg Chief Executive Officer

Mr Karl Dandler Chief Financial Officer

Mr Martin Dalmas Airport Operations and Business Continuity

Mr George Mallia Retail and Property

Mr Ian Maggi Innovation and Technology

Mr Patrick Murgo Security Services

Ms Tina Lombardi Human Resources and Strategy

Ms Kristina Borg Cardona Marketing and Brand Development

Mr Alex Cardona Traffic Development and Customer Services

Mr Ivan Zahra Technical Projects

Mr Kevin Alamango Technical Services



Malta International Airport p.l.c. 
 

Corporate Governance – Statement of Compliance 
 
 

15 

(continued) 
 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2018 the Committee consisted of three (3) Non-Executive Directors, namely 
Mr Florian Nowotny, Ms Rita Heiss, and Dr. Cory Greenland. The Committee has the power and authority under its 
Terms of Reference to summon any person to assist it in the performance of its duties. The directors believe that, 
during the year under review, Mr Florian Nowotny was independent and competent in accounting and/or auditing in 
terms of Listing Rule 5.117. Mr Nowotny is considered as competent in accounting and/or auditing in view of his 
qualifications and experience. 
 
When the Audit Committee’s monitoring and review activities reveal cause for concern or scope for improvement, it 
shall make recommendations to the Board on the action needed to address the issue or make improvements. In the 
period under review the Audit Committee has held 7 meetings. 
 
Company Executives participate in periodic strategic reviews, which include consideration of long-term projections 
and the revaluation of the business objectives in the short term. Regular budgets and strategic plans are prepared, 
which are incorporated into a comprehensive strategic plan for the Company. Performance against these plans is 
actively monitored and reported to the Board using key risk and performance indicators so that corrective measures 
can be taken to address any deficiencies and to ensure the future sustainability of the Company. These key risk and 
performance indicators are benchmarked against industry norms so that the Company’s performance can be 
effectively evaluated. 
 
In view of the number of members of the Board, the directors believe that its size is manageable to be able to 
address most issues as a Board rather than create sub-committees of the Board that may be more suitable in the 
case of companies having larger Boards. Indeed, the Board feels that its size and membership allows directors the 
opportunity to discuss matters directly and that this is a more effective and efficient manner to conduct its business. 
 
The directors, however, are aware that there may be situations that require the delegation to certain committees of 
certain tasks or assignments and the Board has on occasion composed ad hoc committees for this purpose. 
 
Notwithstanding that the board has established no formal policy on the matter, as part of succession planning, the 
Board and CEO ensure that the Company implements appropriate schemes to recruit, retain and motivate 
employees and senior management. 
 
In ensuring compliance with other statutory requirements and with continuing listing obligations, the Board is advised 
directly, as appropriate, by its appointed broker, legal advisor and external auditors. The Board also ensures that 
appropriate policies and procedures are in place to assure that the highest standards of corporate conduct are 
maintained. 
 
Directors are entitled to seek independent professional advice at any time on any aspect of their duties and 
responsibilities at the Company’s expense. 
 
 

Principle Five: Board Meetings 

 
The Board believes that it complies fully with the requirements of this principle and the relative Code Provisions, in 
that it has systems in place to ensure the reasonable notice of meetings of the Board and the circulation of discussion 
papers in advance of meetings so as to provide adequate time for directors to prepare themselves for such meetings. 
Minutes are prepared during Board meetings recording faithfully attendance, discussions and resolutions. These 
minutes are subsequently circulated to all directors as soon as practicable after the meeting. 
 
The Board meets as often and as frequently as required in line with the nature and demands of the business of the 
Company. During the financial year under review the Board held six meetings: 
 

  

 Director Attendance Board Meetings

Mr Nikolaus Gretzmacher 5 / 6

Ms Rita Heiss 6 / 6

Dr. Cory Greenland 5 / 6

Dr. Wolfgang Koeberl 6 / 6

Mr Florian Nowotny 6 / 6

Mr Alan Borg 6 / 6

Mr Karl Dandler 6 / 6
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The Chairman ensures that all relevant issues are on the agenda and supported by all available information, whilst 
encouraging the presentation of views pertinent to the subject matter and giving all directors every opportunity to 
contribute to relevant issues on the agenda. The agenda on the Board strikes a balance between long-term strategic 
and short-term performance issues. 
 
Directors attend meetings on a frequent and regular basis and dedicate the necessary time and attention to their 
duties as directors of the Company. 
 
 

Principle Six: Information and Professional Development 

 
The CEO is appointed by the directors and enjoys the full confidence of the Board. The CEO, although responsible 
for the selection of the Executive Committee and the recruitment of senior executives, regularly updates the directors 
on the appointment of senior executives. The Board is satisfied that the current schemes for executive compensation 
are designed to render the Company an attractive proposition for the retention of top executives within the Company 
and to motivate the Executive Committee. 
 
The board intends to organise other professional development sessions for directors and executives designed 
specifically to enable them to discharge their functions more efficiently and in line with the high standards expected 
of them. 
 
Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary who is also the legal counsel to the 
Board and the Company. As part of succession planning and employee retention, the Board and CEO ensure that 
the Company implements appropriate schemes to attract, retain and develop the best talent and keep employees 
engaged and motivated. 
 
 

Principle Seven: Evaluation of the Board’s Performance 

 
The Board has not appointed a committee for the purpose of undertaking an evaluation of the Board’s performance 
in accordance with the requirements of Code Provision 7.1, but has conducted an informal review of its own 
performance over the period under review. Refer to the note under the Section on ‘Non-Compliance with the Code’. 
 
 

Principle Eight: Committees 

 

A. Remuneration Committee 
 
The Company has no performance-related remuneration payable to its Non-Executive Directors and accordingly, 
as allowed by Code Provision 8A.2, it has not appointed a Remuneration Committee, but rather the functions of 
such a Remuneration Committee are vested in the Board, which itself establishes the remuneration policies of the 
Company. The Non-Executive members of the Board establish the policies and decide on the performance related 
remuneration of its Executive Directors. 
 
The Board notes that the organizational set-up of the Company and the size of the Board itself, together with the 
fact that Non-Executive Directors are not entitled to performance related remuneration, does not, in the opinion of 
the directors, warrant the establishment of a Remuneration Committee. Remuneration policies have therefore been 
retained within the remit of the Board itself, and as already stated in the case of the Executive Directors, it is the 
Non-Executive members of the Board that decide on their performance related remuneration. 
 
The directors believe that certain committees that are suggested in the Code are either not required by the Company, 
or the functions of a number of committees may efficiently be merged or undertaken by the Board itself. In addition, 
the Board believes that its size and composition is sufficient for the proper direction and management of the 
Company and its business and that there would be no value added to the Company and its shareholders to increase 
the number of Board members simply to be able to have separate committees of the Board – when the same 
functions can properly be undertaken by the Board itself. The directors will retain the need of such committees under 
review and as in the past, may appoint ad hoc committees of directors to deal with specific issues as and when 
these arise. 
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The aggregate amount of remuneration paid to all directors, including salaries paid to the CEO, and the CFO amount 
to EUR 666,974. For the purposes of the provisions of Article 63 of the Company’s Articles of Association, the 
aggregate emoluments paid to the directors is EUR 363,156 which is within the amount approved by the 
shareholders of EUR 465,875 for the purpose of that article. The aggregate emoluments paid to the senior 
management amount to EUR 638,446. 
 

B. Nomination Committee 
 
The Board believes that the main principle has been duly complied with, in that it is the Articles of Association 
themselves that establish a formal and transparent procedure for the appointment of directors. The Company has, 
however, not established a Nomination Committee as suggested by the Code. 
 
 

Principle Nine: Relations with Shareholders and with the Market  

 
The Board serves the legitimate interests of the Company, accounts to shareholders fully and ensures that the 
Company communicates with the market effectively through a number of Company announcements, informing the 
market of significant events happening within the Company. 
 
The Company also communicates with its shareholders through the Annual General Meeting (AGM), where the 
Board communicates directly with shareholders on the performance of the Company over the last financial year and 
informs shareholders of the challenges that lie ahead. 
 
Business at the Company's AGM will cover the approval of the Annual Report and the audited Financial Statements, 
the declaration of a dividend, if any, the election of directors, the determination of the maximum aggregate 
emoluments that may be paid to directors, the appointment of auditors and the authorisation of the directors to set 
the auditors' remuneration. Any other matter that may be placed by the directors before the AGM will be dealt with 
as “Special Business”. 
 
Apart from the AGM, the Company has continued to communicate with its shareholders and the market by way of 
the Annual Report and Financial Statements, by publishing its results on a six-monthly basis during the year and 
through the directors’ statements, which are also published on a six-monthly basis, and by Company 
announcements to the market in general. The Company recognises the importance of maintaining a dialogue with 
the market to ensure that its strategies and performance are well understood. The Company's website 
(www.maltairport.com) also contains information about the Company and its business and is a source of further 
information to the market. 
 
The Company’s Articles of Association allow minority shareholders to call special meetings on matters of importance 
to the Company, provided that the minimum threshold of ownership established in the Articles of Association is met. 
 
 

Principle Ten: Institutional Shareholders 

 
This Principle is specifically applicable to the institutional shareholders of the Company and their responsibilities, 
including their evaluation of governance disclosures. 
 
 

Principle Eleven: Conflicts of Interest 

 
The Board has established procedures on how conflicts are to be handled, if and when they arise. A director having 
a personal conflict on any matter is bound to inform the other members of the Board of such a conflict whether it is 
an actual, potential or a perceived conflict. It is then the other members of the Board that would decide on whether 
there exists such a conflict, actual or potential. By virtue of the Memorandum and Articles of Association, in the 
event that, in the opinion of the Board such a conflict exists, then the conflicted director is invited to leave the meeting 
when it proceeds to the vote, if any, on the matter concerned. As a matter of practice, discussions of such matters 
are normally conducted in the absence of the conflicted director. The Board feels that this is a procedure that 
achieves compliance with both the letter and the rationale of principle eleven. 
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Commercial relationships between the Company and other companies may be related by way of common directors 
and shareholders (“Related Party Transactions”). Contracts are entered into in the ordinary course of business with 
shareholders and other parties in which the directors have a beneficial interest. Terms and conditions of contracts 
negotiated with related parties are reviewed by the Company’s Audit Committee. Full disclosure of Related Party 
Transactions entered into during the financial year under review is made in Note 33 to the Financial Statements. 
 
The following directors have declared their interests in the share capital of the Company: 
 

• Mr Nikolaus Gretzmacher a non-beneficial interest3 

• Ms Rita Heiss a non-beneficial interest4 

• Dr. Cory Greenland a beneficial interest 
 
No other director has a beneficial or non-beneficial interest in the Company’s share capital. 
 
 

Principle Twelve: Corporate Social Responsibility 

 
The directors are committed to high standards of Corporate Responsibility namely in the social, economic and 
environmental fields both internally and externally. This is being done for the benefit of its key stakeholders which 
include its shareholders, employees, customers as well as the local community at large. 
 
 

Non-Compliance with Code Provisions 
 
The directors set out below the code provisions with which they do not comply and a careful explanation as to the 
reasons for such non-compliance: 
 
 

Code 
Provision 

Explanation 

2.1 

 
Whilst the Company has segregated the functions of the Chairman and the CEO, in that the two 
posts are occupied by different persons, the division of responsibilities between them has not been 
established in writing, although there is significant experience and practice that determines the two 
roles. 
 

4.2 

 
The Board has not formally developed a succession policy for the future composition of the Board 
of Directors as recommended by Code Provision 4.2.7. In practice, however, the Board and CEO 
are actively engaged in succession planning and in ensuring that appropriate schemes to recruit, 
retain and motivate employees and senior management are in place. 
 

4.3 

 
Over the course of the year 2018 the Board has not organised any formal training sessions for 
directors. 
 

  

                                                           
 

3 These shares are held by MMLC and VIE Malta Limited, companies of which Mr Gretzmacher is a director. 
4 These shares are held by MMLC and VIE Malta Limited, companies of which Ms Heiss is a director. 
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Code 
Provision 

Explanation 

7.1 

 
The Board believes that the size of the Company and the Board itself does not warrant the 
establishment of a committee specifically for the purpose of carrying out a performance evaluation 
of its role. Whilst the requirement under Code Provision 7.1 might be useful in the context of larger 
companies having a more complex set-up and a larger Board, the size of the Board is such that it 
should enable it to evaluate its own performance without the requirement of setting up an ad hoc 
committee for this purpose. The Board shall retain this matter under review over the coming year. 
 
Having conducted an informal review of its own performance over the period under review it is the 
Board’s view that all members of the Board, individually and collectively, have contributed in line 
with the required levels of diligence and skill. In addition, the Board believes that its current 
composition endows the Board with a cross-section of skills and experience, not only with respect 
to the specific business of the Company, but also in a wider range of business areas and skills. 
This process was conducted by the Board itself rather than by a Committee chaired by a Non-
Executive Director as required by the Code. 
 

8B 

 
The Board has not appointed a Nominations Committee in line with Code Provision 8B, particularly 
in the light of the specific manner in which the Articles of Association require that Non-Executive 
Directors be appointed by a shareholding qualification to the Board. The Executive Directors are, 
in accordance with the Articles, appointed by the Non-Executive Directors after their appointment, 
as aforesaid. The Board believes that the current Articles of Association do not allow the Board 
itself to make any recommendations to the shareholders for appointments of directors and that if 
this function were to be undertaken by the Board itself or a Nomination Committee, they would only 
be able to make a non-binding recommendation to the shareholders having the necessary 
qualification to appoint directors pursuant to the Articles of Association. 
 
The Board intends to keep under review the utility and possible advantages of having a Nomination 
Committee and following an evaluation may, if the need arises, make recommendations to the 
shareholders for a change to the Articles of Association. 
 

9.3 

 
The Memorandum and Articles of Association does not provide any mechanism for the resolution 
of conflicts between shareholders or any process that would trigger arbitration in these instances. 
This is mitigated by ongoing open dialogue between executive management and Non-Executive 
Directors of the Company, to ensure that such conflicts do not arise. 
 

9.4 

 
The Company does not have a policy in place to allow minority shareholders to present an issue 
to the Board. 
 

 
 

Internal Control 
 
The Board is ultimately responsible for the Company's system of internal controls and for reviewing its effectiveness. 
Such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate risk to achieve business objectives, and can provide 
only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against normal business risks or loss. 
 
Through the Audit Committee, the Board reviews the effectiveness of the Company's system of internal controls, 
which are monitored by the Internal Auditors on a regular basis. 
 
The key features of the Company’s system of internal control are as follows: 
 

Organisation 

 
The Company operates through the CEO and Executive Committee with clear reporting lines and delegation of 
powers.  
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Control Environment 

 
The Company is committed to standards of business conduct and/or ethics that emulate best practice and seeks to 
maintain these standards across all of its operations. Company policies and employee procedures are in place for 
the reporting and resolution of improper activities. 
 
The Company has an appropriate organisational structure for planning, executing, controlling and monitoring 
business operations in order to achieve Company objectives. 
 

Risk Identification 

 
Company management is responsible for the identification and evaluation of key risks applicable to their respective 
areas of business. A Risk Management Committee serve as a primary champion of risk management at a strategic 
and operational level to ensure that a sound system is in place that identifies, assesses, manages and monitors risk. 
In addition, through regular checks the internal auditors test the Company’s internal control systems and processes 
and make recommendations to management and the audit committee on any deficiency in such systems. 
 
 

General Meetings 
 
The general meeting is the highest decision-making body of the Company and is regulated by the Company’s 
Articles of Association. All shareholders registered on the register of members of the Company on a particular record 
date are entitled to attend and vote at general meetings. A general meeting is called by twenty-one (21) days’ notice. 
 
At an Annual General Meeting what is termed as “ordinary business” is transacted, namely, the declaration of a 
dividend, the consideration of the accounts, balance sheets and the reports of the directors and the auditors, the 
election of directors, the appointment of auditors and the fixing of remuneration of directors and auditors. Other 
business which may be transacted at a general meeting (including at the Annual General Meeting) will be dealt with 
as “Special Business”. 
 
Voting at any general meeting takes place by a show of hands or a poll where this is demanded. Subject to any 
rights or restrictions for the time being attached to any class or classes of shares, on a show of hands each 
shareholder is entitled to one vote and on a poll each shareholder is entitled to one vote for each share carrying 
voting rights of which he is a holder. 

 
Shareholders who cannot participate in the general meeting may appoint a proxy by written or electronic notification 
to the Company. Appointed proxy holders enjoy the same rights to participate in the general meeting as those to 
which the shareholder they represent is entitled. Every shareholder represented in person or by proxy is entitled to 
ask questions which are pertinent and related to the items on the agenda of the general meeting and to have such 
questions answered by the directors or such persons as the directors may delegate for such purpose. 
 
 
The directors’ statement of responsibilities for preparing the Financial Statements is set out on page 10. 
 
The information required by Listing Rule 5.97.5 is found in the Directors’ Report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors on 20 February 2019 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Nikolaus Gretzmacher Alan Borg Karl Dandler 

Chairman Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 
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Income Statements 
 

 
 
 

Statements of Comprehensive Income 
 

 
 

(in EUR) Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017

Revenue 6 92,191,719    82,369,154    88,056,060    78,447,361    

Staff costs 11 (9,747,167)     (8,045,386)     (9,521,138)     (7,809,575)     

Other operating expenses 9 (28,014,126)   (25,750,264)   (27,350,959)   (24,980,075)   

Depreciation 14/15 (7,384,403)     (7,410,628)     (6,494,396)     (6,515,045)     

Release of deferred income arising on the

sale of terminal buildings and fixtures 24 208,765         208,765         208,765         208,765         

Investment income 7 (7,021)           4,406            395,541         118,690         

Finance Cost 8 (148,915)        (3,808,536)     (139,212)        (342,542)        

Profit before tax 47,098,852    37,567,511    45,154,661    39,127,579    

Income tax expense 12 (16,763,212)   (13,417,031)   (16,069,342)   (13,948,206)   

Profit for the year attributable to the 

ordinary equity holders of the 

Company, net of tax 30,335,640    24,150,480    29,085,319    25,179,373    

Earnings per share attributable to the 

ordinary equity holders of the 

Company 30 0.224            0.178            0.215            0.186            

The CompanyThe Group

(in EUR) Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017

Profit for the year attributable to the 

ordinary equity holders of the 

Company, net of tax 30,335,640    24,150,480    29,085,319    25,179,373    

Items that may be reclassified

subsequently to profit or loss:

Net gain on available-for-sale

financial assets 17 -                3,930            -                3,930            

Items that will not be reclassified

subsequently to profit or loss:

Actuarial gains on defined benefit

pension plans 25/26 47,805          -                47,805          -                

Deferred tax credit 12 (16,732)         -                (16,732)         -                

Other comprehensive income for the 

year attributable to the ordinary equity 

holders of the Company, net of tax 31,073          3,930            31,073          3,930            

Total comprehensive income for the 

year attributable to the ordinary equity 

holders of the Company, net of tax 30,366,713    24,154,410    29,116,392    25,183,303    

The Group The Company
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These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 February 2019 
and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Nikolaus Gretzmacher Alan Borg Karl Dandler 
Chairman Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 

(in EUR) Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017

Assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 107,711,631  105,864,394  106,143,034  105,557,361  

Investment property 15 15,874,085    16,656,702    -                -                

Investment in subsidiaries 16 -                -                2,004,800      2,004,800      

Other investments 17 -                107,578         -                107,578         

Loans receivable 18 -                -                17,507,198    17,216,372    

Deferred tax assets 19 5,085,728      5,545,043      3,995,804      4,318,996      

Non-current assets 128,671,444  128,173,717  129,650,836  129,205,107  

Inventories 20 884,352         891,511         884,352         891,511         

Loans receivable 18 -                -                1,290,720      1,146,943      

Trade and other receivables 21 20,002,906    15,383,372    19,794,115    14,276,473    

Cash and cash equivalents 29 20,253,186    38,401,907    18,553,003    36,969,444    

Current assets 41,140,444    54,676,790    40,522,190    53,284,371    

Total Assets 169,811,888  182,850,507  170,173,026  182,489,478  

Equity and Liabilities

Equity attributable to ordinary equity 

holders of the Company

Share capital 27 33,825,000    33,825,000    33,825,000    33,825,000    

Other reserve 28 1,130,817      1,179,462      1,130,817      1,179,462      

Fair value reserve 28 -                30,973          -                30,973          

Retained earnings 77,655,440    60,712,916    78,471,906    62,779,703    

Total Equity 112,611,257  95,748,351    113,427,723  97,815,138    

Bank loan 23 -                31,147,638    -                29,510,101    

Deferred income 24 5,127,504      5,371,367      5,013,539      5,272,550      

Provision for retirement benefit plan 25 3,906,809      4,408,590      3,906,809      4,408,590      

Provision for MIA benefit fund 26 250,638         222,989         250,638         222,989         

Non-current liabilities 9,284,951      41,150,584    9,170,986      39,414,230    

Bank loan 23 -                1,868,923      -                1,781,423      

Trade and other payables 22 46,575,104    40,576,934    46,371,354    40,139,557    

Current tax liabilities 1,340,576      3,505,715      1,202,963      3,339,130      

Current liabilities 47,915,680    45,951,572    47,574,317    45,260,110    

Total Liabilities 57,200,631    87,102,156    56,745,303    84,674,340    

Total Equity and Liabilities 169,811,888  182,850,507  170,173,026  182,489,478  

The CompanyThe Group
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The Group

Share Other Fair value Retained

capital reserve reserve earnings Total

Balance at 1 January 2017 33,825,000   1,228,107    27,043        50,017,598    85,097,748     

Profit for the year -              -             -             24,150,480    24,150,480     

Other comprehensive income -              -             3,930          -                3,930             

Total comprehensive income for the year -              -             3,930          24,150,480    24,154,410     

Difference for historical depreciation for the year 

calculated on the revalued amount -              (74,838)       -             74,838          -                

Deferred tax (Note 19) -              26,193        -             -                26,193           

Dividends (Note 13) -              -             -             (13,530,000)   (13,530,000)    

Balance at 31 December 2017 33,825,000   1,179,462    30,973        60,712,916    95,748,351     

Balance at 1 January 2018

(as previously reported) 33,825,000   1,179,462    30,973        60,712,916    95,748,351     

Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9 (Note 4) -              -             (30,973)       30,973          -                

Adjusted balance at 1 January 2018 33,825,000   1,179,462    -             60,743,889    95,748,351     

Profit for the year -              -             -             30,335,640    30,335,640     

Other comprehensive income -              -             -             31,073          31,073           

Total comprehensive income for the year -              -             -             30,366,713    30,366,713     

Difference for historical depreciation for the year 

calculated on the revalued amount -              (74,838)       -             74,838          -                

Deferred tax (Note 19) -              26,193        -             -                26,193           

Dividends (Note 13) -              -             -             (13,530,000)   (13,530,000)    

Balance at 31 December 2018 33,825,000   1,130,817    -             77,655,440    112,611,257   

Equity attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company

(in EUR)

The Company

Share Other Fair value Retained

capital reserve reserve earnings Total

Balance at 1 January 2017 33,825,000   1,228,107    27,043        51,055,492    86,135,642     

Profit for the year -              -             -             25,179,373    25,179,373     

Other comprehensive income/(expense) -              -             3,930          -                3,930             

Total comprehensive income for the year -              -             3,930          25,179,373    25,183,303     

Difference for historical depreciation for the year 

calculated on the revalued amount -              (74,838)       -             74,838          -                

Deferred tax (Note 19) -              26,193        -             -                26,193           

Dividends (Note 13) -              -             -             (13,530,000)   (13,530,000)    

Balance at 31 December 2017 33,825,000   1,179,462    30,973        62,779,703    97,815,138     

Balance at 1 January 2018

(as previously reported) 33,825,000   1,179,462    30,973        62,779,703    97,815,138     

Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9 (Note 4) -              -             (30,973)       30,973          -                

Adjusted balance at 1 January 2018 33,825,000   1,179,462    -             62,810,676    97,815,138     

Profit for the year -              -             -             29,085,319    29,085,319     

Other comprehensive income/(expense) -              -             -             31,073          31,073           

Total comprehensive income for the year -              -             -             29,116,392    29,116,392     

Difference for historical depreciation for the year 

calculated on the revalued amount -              (74,838)       -             74,838          -                

Deferred tax (Note 19) -              26,193        -             -                26,193           

Dividends (Note 13) -              -             -             (13,530,000)   (13,530,000)    

Balance at 31 December 2018 33,825,000   1,130,817    -             78,471,906    113,427,723   

Equity attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company

(in EUR)
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(in EUR) Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 47,098,852    37,567,511    45,154,661    39,127,579    

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 14/15 7,384,403      7,410,628      6,494,396      6,515,045      

Investment income/(loss) 7 7,021            (4,406)           (395,541)        (118,690)        

Finance cost 8 148,915         3,808,536      139,212         342,542         

Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and 

equipment -                (7,670)           -                (7,670)           

Release of deferred income arising on the

sale of the terminal building and fixtures 24 (208,765)        (208,765)        (208,765)        (208,765)        

Amortisation of grants 24 (102,007)        (102,007)        (102,007)        (102,007)        

Provision for retirement benefit plan 25 45,020          42,650          45,020          42,650          

Provision for MIA benefit plan 26 28,979          16,353          28,979          16,353          

Provision for impairment of trade receivables 21 18,157          7,907            40,578          7,907            

54,420,575    48,530,737    51,196,533    45,614,944    

Work ing capital movements:

Movement in inventories 20 7,159            (57,068)         7,159            (57,068)         

Movement in trade and other receivables 21 (4,519,100)     (516,986)        (5,439,629)     (426,878)        

Movement in trade and other payables 22 5,998,170      11,080,603    6,231,797      11,302,031    

Cash flows from operations 55,906,804    59,037,287    51,995,860    56,433,029    

Interest paid 8 (148,915)        (3,808,536)     (139,212)        (342,542)        

Income taxes paid (18,425,846)   (12,509,432)   (17,839,129)   (11,896,790)   

Retirement benefit paid 25 (500,326)        (17,300)         (500,326)        (17,300)         

Net cash flows from operating activities 36,831,717    42,702,018    33,517,193    44,176,397    

Cash flows from investing activities

Receipt of deposit from tenant 24 15,146          14,313          -                -                

Payments for property, plant and equipment 14 (8,433,656)     (13,790,643)   (7,080,069)     (13,759,492)   

Payments for investment property 15 (15,367)         (224,402)        -                -                

Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equip. 14 -                7,670            -                7,670            

Payments for intracompany loans 18 -                -                (1,725,323)     (13,763,315)   

Repayments of intracompany loans 18 -                -                1,290,720      -                

Interest received 7 -                4,161            402,562         118,690         

Net cash flows used in investing activities (8,433,877)     (13,988,901)   (7,112,110)     (27,396,447)   

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of bank loans 23 (33,016,561)   (13,331,423)   (31,291,524)   (1,781,423)     

Dividends paid 13 (13,530,000)   (13,530,000)   (13,530,000)   (13,530,000)   

Net cash flows used in financing activities (46,546,561)   (26,861,423)   (44,821,524)   (15,311,423)   

Net movement in

cash and cash equivalents (18,148,721)   1,851,695      (18,416,441)   1,468,526      

Cash and cash equivalents

at the beginning of the year 38,401,907    36,550,212    36,969,444    35,500,917    

Cash and cash equivalents

at the end of the year 29 20,253,186    38,401,907    18,553,003    36,969,444    

The CompanyThe Group
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1. Reporting entity 
 
The Company is a public company whose shares are publicly listed and traded on the Malta Stock Exchange. 
The Company’s registration number is C12663, the country of incorporation is Malta and the Company’s 
registered office is Malta International Airport, Luqa, Malta. 
 
The principal activities of the Company are the development, operation and management of Malta’s airport. 
On 11 February 2008, the Company set up a wholly-owned subsidiary, Sky Parks Limited, to take over the 
operations of the car park business. The name of this subsidiary was changed to Airport Parking Limited on 
27 October 2009. Another subsidiary, Sky Parks Development Limited, was set up by the Company on 29 
October 2009. The main activity of Sky Parks Development Limited is to manage real estate projects within 
the land which is currently under the management of the Group. Another subsidiary Sky Parks Business 
Centre Limited was set up by the Company on 26 April 2012. The principal activity of the subsidiary is to 
operate the Business Centre within the limits of the airport. On 20 June 2013, the Company set up another 
wholly-owned subsidiary, Kirkop PV Farm Limited. The main activity of this company is to explore 
opportunities in the generation of electricity using photovoltaic technologies. 
 
The Company and the subsidiaries are together referred to as ‘the Group’. 
 
 

2. Basis of preparation 
 
Under the Companies Act, Cap. 386 of the Laws of Malta, the Company is required to present individual and 
consolidated financial statements. The financial statements of the Group and the Company have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair value 
and are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and 
comply with the Companies Act, Cap. 386 of the Laws of Malta. The functional currency of the Company is 
the Euro which is also the presentation currency of the Group. 
 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Malta International Airport p.l.c, 
and its subsidiaries, as mentioned in Note 1 above. For more details on the scope of consolidation see Note 
40. 
 
This is the first set of the Group’s and the Company’s annual financial statements in which IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments have been applied. Changes to significant 
accounting policies from these new standards that are effective for the current year are described in Note 4. 
 
As from the current year, the accounting policies are being included in Note 40 to enhance the users’ 
understandability of these financial statements, while at the same time retaining the comparability of such 
financial statements to those presented in previous reporting periods. 
 

3. Judgments in applying accounting policies and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty 
 
Except as discussed below and in the remaining notes to the financial statements, the directors did not make 
any significant judgments in the process of applying the Company’s and the Group’s accounting policies 
which can significantly affect the amounts recognised in the consolidated and the individual financial 
statements and, at the end of the reporting period, there were no key assumptions concerning the future, or 
any other key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 
 

 Service Concession Arrangements in terms of IFRIC 12  
 
IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements was endorsed by the EU for financial years beginning after 29 
March 2009. The Interpretation, which is limited in scope, clarifies the accounting of service concession 
arrangements by private sector operators which provide public services on behalf of government or other 
public sector entities.  
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 Service Concession Arrangements in terms of IFRIC 12 (continued) 
 
The Interpretation states that for arrangements falling within its scope, the infrastructure assets are not 
recognised as property, plant and equipment of the operator. Rather, depending on the terms of the 
arrangement, the operator will recognise: 

 
(i) a financial asset (where the operator has an unconditional right to receive a specified amount of 

cash or other financial asset over the life of the arrangement); or 
(ii) an intangible asset (where the operator’s future cash flows are not specified, for example, where 

they will vary according to usage of the infrastructure asset); or 
(iii) both a financial asset and an intangible asset where the operator’s return is provided partially by a 

financial asset and partially by an intangible asset. 
 
The Company and the Group’s business activities and operations are governed under a 65-year concession 
which was granted by the Government in July 2002. The directors have conducted a detailed analysis to 
determine the applicability of IFRIC 12. Based on the Company’s and the Group’s proportion of regulated 
and unregulated activities, the directors have determined that the extent of unregulated business activities 
cannot be deemed as insignificant. Accordingly, the directors have concluded that IFRIC 12 does not apply 
to the Company and the Group. 
 

 Lessee Accounting in terms of IAS 17 
 
As further disclosed in Note 34, operating lease and related payments represent ground rents payable by 
the Company to Malita Investments plc (previously to the Government of Malta) on the temporary 
emphyteuses and the related aerodrome licence fee payable to the Government of Malta, with an original 
term of 58 to 65 years and periodic upward adjustments by a specified rate over the lease term for the 
amounts payable under the temporary emphyteusis. The lease expense on the temporary emphyteusis is 
allocated to commercial and non-commercial areas, being site areas with restricted access on the basis of 
the total surface area covered by the lease. The recognition of the lease expense in relation to the non-
commercial areas is made on a systematic basis that is considered to be most representative of the time 
pattern of the expected benefit that the Group and the Company can reasonably be expected to reap from 
the use of that part of the leased asset over the lease term on the basis of passenger movements. This 
assessment is reviewed annually to determine whether the basis that is applied in allocating the lease 
expense over the lease term continues to be appropriate. 
 

 

4. Application of new and revised IFRS 
 

 New and revised IFRS effective for the current year 
 
IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
 
The Group and the Company have initially adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (as 
amended in April 2016 by Clarifications to IFRS 15) in the current period from 1 January 2018. The standard 
was applied retrospectively using the cumulative effect method with the effects of initially applying this 
standard recognised in equity at the date of initial application at 1 January 2018. Accordingly, the comparative 
information for 2017 has not been restated and continues to be reported under IAS 18 Revenue. Additionally, 
the disclosure requirements in IFRS 15 have not generally been applied to comparative information. The 
significant accounting policies under IAS 18 continue to apply to the 2017 comparative figures. 
 
IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is 
recognised. It replaces IAS 18, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and related interpretations. IFRS 15 introduces 
a five-step approach to revenue recognition. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to 
deal with specific scenarios. 
 
Under this transition method, the Company and the Group have elected to apply this Standard retrospectively 
only to contracts that are not completed contracts at the date of initial application. A completed contract is a 
contract for which the entity has transferred all of the goods or services identified in accordance with IAS 11, 
IAS 18 and related interpretations. 
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 New and revised IFRS effective for the current year (continued) 
 
IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued) 
 
IFRS 15 must be applied to all contracts with customers that the Group and the Company enter into, which 
can essentially be split into the following revenue streams: 
 

• Regulated revenue comprises income from aviation services which arise from income from 
passenger services charges, security fees as well as aircraft landing and parking fees. 

 

• Unregulated revenue consists of PRM charges, income from ground handling charges, certain car 
parking revenue, income from VIP services as well as meteorological services and other income. 

 
The following contracts from which the Group and the Company derive revenue are exempted from the scope 
of IFRS 15: 
 

• Revenue from Leases within the scope of IAS 17 Leases reflects all income from renting office, 
retail, food and beverage, and advertising space including commissions based on sales as well as 
income from renting car parks. 

 
Apart from providing more extensive disclosures on the Group’s and the Company’s revenue transactions, 
the initial application of IFRS 15 does not have a material effect on the Group’s and the Company’s statement 
of financial position as at 1 January 2018 and on the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies. 
 
The details of the new significant accounting policies under IFRS 15 applicable during the current period and 
the nature and effect of the changes to previous accounting policies in relation to the Group’s and the 
Company’s revenue streams are set out in Note 40. 

 
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments 
 
The Group and the Company have initially adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as revised in 2014) in the 
current period from 1 January 2018. The standard was applied retrospectively using the cumulative effect 
method with the effects of initially applying this standard recognised in equity at the date of initial application 
at 1 January 2018. Accordingly, the comparative information for 2017 has not been restated and continues 
to be reported under IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. Additionally, the 
disclosure requirements resulting from the consequential amendments to IFRS 7 have not generally been 
applied to comparative information. The significant accounting policies under IAS 39 continue to apply to the 
2017 comparative figures. 
 
IFRS 9 replaces the existing requirements in IAS 39. IFRS 9 contains revised requirements for the 
classification and measurement of financial instruments, a new model of expected credit losses (‘ECLs’) to 
calculate impairment on financial assets, and new accounting requirements for general hedge accounting. 
 
In accordance with the transitional provisions of the Standard, the Group and the Company have not applied 
the requirements of IFRS 9 to instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1 January 2018. 
 
The impact of initially applying IFRS 9 on the Group’s and the Company’s equity line items as at 1 January 
2018 was the following: 
 

 
 
The Group and the Company do not designate any of their financial liabilities as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition and accordingly the adoption of IFRS 9 has not had an effect on the Group’s and the Company’s 
accounting policies related to financial liabilities. 

  

Impact of

(in EUR) adopting IFRS 9

Fair value reserve

Reclassification of Other investments to FVTPL -30,973 

Retained earnings

Reclassification of Other investments to FVTPL 30,973
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 New and revised IFRS effective for the current year (continued) 
 
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
The Group and the Company do not designate any of their assets, liabilities or other items in a hedge 
relationship for accounting purposes and accordingly the changes introduced by IFRS 9 in this respect do 
not affect these financial statements. 
 
The details of the new significant accounting policies under IFRS 9 applicable during the current period and 
the nature and effect of the changes to previous accounting policies in relation to the Group’s and the 
Company’s financial instruments are set out in Note 40. 
 
Classification 
 
In terms of IFRS 9, on initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at either amortised cost 
(AC), fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 
 
The following tables explain the original classification and measurement categories under IAS 39 and the 
new classification and measurement categories under IFRS 9 for each class of the Group’s and the 
Company’s financial assets as at 1 January 2018: 
 
 

 
 
The following tables explain the original classification and measurement categories under IAS 39 and the 
new classification and measurement categories under IFRS 9 for each class of the Group’s and the 
Company’s financial liabilities as at 1 January 2018: 
 

 
  

The Group

Balance as at 1 January 2018 IAS 39 IFRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 9

Financial Assets (in EUR)

Other investments AfS FVTPL 107,578         107,578         

Trade and other receivables LaR AC 14,292,981     14,292,981     

Cash at bank balances LaR AC 38,401,907     38,401,907     

Total Financial Assets 52,802,466     52,802,466     

The Company

Balance as at 1 January 2018 IAS 39 IFRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 9

Financial Assets (in EUR)

Other investments AfS FVTPL 107,578         107,578         

Trade and other receivables LaR AC 13,887,287     13,887,287     

Cash at bank balances LaR AC 36,969,444     36,969,444     

Loans receivable LaR AC 18,363,315     18,363,315     

Total Financial Assets 69,327,624     69,327,624     

Classification Carrying Amounts

Classification Carrying Amounts

The Group

Balance as at 1 January 2018 IAS 39 IFRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 9

Financial Liabilities (in EUR)

Bank loans AC AC 33,016,561     33,016,561     

Trade and other payables AC AC 9,868,684      9,868,684      

Total Financial Liabilities 42,885,245     42,885,245     

The Company

Balance as at 1 January 2018 IAS 39 IFRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 9

Financial Liabilities (in EUR)

Bank loans AC AC 31,291,524     31,291,524     

Trade and other payables AC AC 9,882,649      9,882,649      

Total Financial Liabilities 41,174,173     41,174,173     

Classification Carrying Amounts

Classification Carrying Amounts
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 New and revised IFRS effective for the current year (continued) 
 
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
The effects resulting from the initial application of IFRS 9 are outlined below: 
 

• Other investments: This asset, which was classified as available-for-sale under IAS 39, is 
classified as FVTPL under IFRS 9, with further disclosures being provided in Note 17. There was 
no change in the carrying amount of this instrument at 1 January 2018 as a result of the new 
classification. 

 
On transition at 1 January 2018, the change in classification results in a reclassification of EUR 30,973 within 
equity, from the fair value reserve to retained earnings, as illustrated in the table on the previous page. 
 

• Trade and other receivables, cash at bank and loans receivable: These were classified as loans 
and receivables (LaR) under IAS 39 and are classified as financial assets measured at amortised 
cost under IFRS 9. 

 
These financial assets continue to be measured at amortised cost and, therefore, there are no reclassification 
effects due to the initial application of IFRS 9. 
 
In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 9, the Group and the Company assessed the business 
model in which these financial assets are held on the basis of the facts and circumstances at 1 January 2018 
and the resulting classification is being applied retrospectively irrespective of the business model in prior 
reporting periods.  
 
These financial assets are required to be tested for impairment in terms of IFRS 9. The effect of the initial 
adoption of IFRS 9 on the loss allowance is explained below. 
 
Measurement and Recognition of ECLs  
 
In terms of IFRS 9, the Group and the Company apply an ECL model as opposed to an incurred credit loss 
model under IAS 39. 
 
ECLs are determined by means of a three-stage model for impairment (the general approach) based on 
changes in credit risk since initial recognition. 
 

­ Stage 1 includes financial instruments that have not had a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition or that have low credit risk at the reporting date. For these assets, 12-month ECLs 
(12m-ECLs) are recognised. 12m-ECLs are the ECLs that result from default events that are 
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.  

 
­ Stage 2 includes financial instruments that have had a significant increase in credit risk since initial 

recognition - unless they have low credit risk at the reporting date - but that do not have objective 
evidence of impairment. For these assets, lifetime ECLs (LT-ECLs) are recognised. LT-ECLs are 
the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial asset.  

 
­ Stage 3 includes financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. 

For these assets, LT-ECLs are recognised. A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have 
occurred.  

 
As detailed in Note 40, the Group and the Company measure loss allowances under IFRS 9 according to the 
three-stage model (the general approach) except for trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain 
a significant financing component or for which the IFRS 15 practical expedient for contracts that are one year 
or less is applied, for which the Group applies the simplified approach and recognises LT-ECLs. 
 
In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 9, for cash at bank and loans receivable, the Company 
used reasonable and supportable information that was available without undue cost or effort to determine 
the credit risk of these financial assets at the date these were initially recognised and compared that to the 
credit risk at 1 January 2018, taking into consideration the low credit risk exemption and the 30 days past 
due rebuttable presumption, to the extent applicable. 
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 New and revised IFRS effective for the current year (continued) 
 
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
There was no change to the loss allowance at 1 January 2018 as a result of the new impairment model in 
terms of IFRS 9, as further explained below. 
 
Impairment of Trade and other receivables 
 
As disclosed above, the Group applies the simplified approach for trade receivables and contract assets that 
do not contain a significant financing component. Accordingly, the assessment to determine whether there 
is a significant increase in credit risk is not applicable for such financial assets. 
 
Where the Group does not have reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost 
or effort to measure LT-ECLs on an individual instrument basis and in order to ensure that LT-ECLs are 
recognised before an asset becomes credit-impaired or an actual default occurs, LT-ECLs on the remaining 
financial assets are measured on a collective basis. In such instances and where appropriate, the financial 
instruments are grouped on the basis of shared credit risk characteristics and the LT-ECLs are estimated 
using a provision matrix based on actual credit loss experience over past years, which is adjusted to reflect 
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables. 
 
Such adjustments are based on factors that are specific to the debtors and economic and industry indicators 
such as GDP, unemployment rates and/or industry projections, where applicable, unless the effect is 
considered to be immaterial. 
 
The Group’s trade receivables are of a short-term nature as they are based on credit terms of less than one 
year and, thus, do not include a significant financing component. 
 
For the purpose of the provision matrix, loss rates are calculated using a ‘roll rate’ method based on the 
probability of a receivable progressing through successive stages of delinquency over a selected period, 
taking into consideration the applicable credit terms for such debtors and the past due status. Unless the 
effect is immaterial, for receivables after 360 days, the loss rate was adjusted to take into consideration the 
proportion of actual recoveries over the selected period.  
 
The resulting difference in the loss allowance as a result of the initial application of IFRS 9 was not considered 
to be material and, thus, the opening balance at 1 January 2018 was not adjusted. 
 
Impairment of Cash at bank balances 
 
As cash at bank balances are demand deposits, a 1-day probability of default (1d-PD) has been applied, 
based on the respective external ratings of the counterparty banks and an adequate loss given default (LGD) 
rate to the carrying amount at the measurement date. 
 
Currently the Group holds its cash at bank balances with reputable and investment grade rated banking 
institutions (1 January 2018: BBB+ by Standard & Poor’s and BBB by Fitch, 31 December 2018: BBB by 
Standard & Poor’s and BBB by Fitch) and accordingly, on the basis of the low credit risk exemption, the 
resulting 12m-ECLs in terms of IFRS 9 were not considered to be material. 
 
Impairment of Loans receivable 
 
The Company determined that the loans did not result in a significant increase in credit risk at 1 January 
2018 and 31 December 2018, as compared to the risk of default on initial recognition and accordingly that a 
12m-ECL applies.  
 
On the basis of the expected manner of recovery of the loans and the possible alternative strategies available 
to the borrower, the Company concluded that full recovery is expected, taking into consideration the financial 
position of the respective counterparty and, where applicable, forward-looking information that addresses the 
future prospects of the industries in which the borrower operates and information that relates to the borrower’s 
core operations.  
 
Consequently, the resulting 12m-ECLs in terms of IFRS 9 were not considered to be material for such loans 
receivable. 
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 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective 
 
At the date of the approval of these financial statements, a number of International Financial Reporting 
Standards were either not yet endorsed by the EU or were not yet applicable to the Group and the Company. 
 
In relation to other IFRS that are not included below and that are in issue at the date of authorisation of these 
financial statements but not yet effective, the Board of Directors anticipate that their adoption will have no 
material impact on the financial statements of the Group and the Company in the period of initial application. 
 

IFRS 16 – Leases 
 
IFRS 16 Leases, which was issued on 13 January 2016, brings most leases on-balance sheet for lessees 
under a single model, eliminating the distinction between operating and finance leases. Lessor accounting 
however remains substantially unchanged (except for a requirement to provide enhanced disclosures) and 
the distinction between operating and finance leases is retained. IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 Leases and 
related interpretations. 
 
IFRS 16 is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted for 
companies that also apply IFRS 15. The Standard has been endorsed by the EU at the date of authorisation 
of these financial statements. Given the significance of the Group’s and the Company’s leasing transactions, 
the Board is giving due attention to this Standard. 
 
The Group and the Company are both lessors and lessees and have chosen the modified retrospective 
application of IFRS 16 with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised at the date of 
initial application as an adjustment to equity. Consequently, the Group and the Company will not restate the 
comparative information. 
 
Leases in which the Group or the Company are lessors 
 
In view of the fact that lessor accounting under the IFRS 16 remains largely unchanged, the Group and the 
Company as lessors do not anticipate significant changes to current classification and accounting. 
 
Leases in which the Group or the Company are lessees 
 
Leases in which the Group or the Company are lessees will be subject to significant adjustments. These 
adjustments will lead to an increase in total assets and total liabilities at the date of transition as a result of 
the recognition of right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities. The Group and the Company have 
chosen to measure the right-of-use asset at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of 
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised immediately before the date of initial 
application. 
 
The introduction of IFRS 16 will also result in significant changes to the profit and loss section of the 
Company’s and the Group’s Statements of Comprehensive Income. While the total amount of expenses 
charged over the term of the lease remains the same, the distribution of such expenses over time and the 
breakdown of the respective line items in profit and loss will change. Under IAS 17, the expenses for 
operating leases are recognised within other operating expenses in accordance with the Group’s and the 
Company’s accounting policy for operating leases. Under IFRS 16 – as is already the case for finance leases 
– the respective impact in profit and loss is broken down into interest expense and depreciation. As the 
interest expense is calculated by applying the effective interest method and fluctuates over the term of the 
lease, but depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis, the expense shifts forward to the early periods 
of the term. Under IFRS 16, the interest expense is presented within finance costs and thus below operating 
income and expenses, thus resulting in an increase in EBIT and an even greater increase in EBITDA. 
 
In the Statement of Cash Flows there is a shift out of cash flows from operating activities and into financing 
activities, as the repayment of the principal portion of the lease liabilities will be presented within cash flows 
from financing activities. 
 
Based on the assessments conducted, the Group and the Company estimate that additional right-of-use 
assets and corresponding lease liabilities of EUR 52 million will be recognized as at 1 January 2019. 
Additionally, an amount of EUR 32 million, which mainly represents the amount as at that date of the prepaid 
lease payment in relation to the lease of the land held on temporary emphyteusis will be reclassified in the 
Statement of Financial Position from property, plant and equipment to right-of-use assets. This will result in 
total right-of-use assets of EUR 84 million as at 1 January 2019. 
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 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective (continued) 
 

IFRS 16 – Leases (continued) 
 
The lease liability of EUR 6.7 million recognised in respect of operating lease expenses under IAS 17, and 
the corresponding deferred tax asset of EUR 2.3 million, will be derecognised as at 1 January 2019 with a 
resulting credit entry of EUR 4.4 million in retained earnings. The impact on profit or loss in 2019 will be a 
reduction of other operating expenses by EUR 2.2 million and increases of depreciation and interest expense 
by EUR 1.1 million and EUR 2.1 million, respectively. The Statement of Cash Flows will see a reduction of 
cash flows from operating activities by EUR 0.4 million and an increase in cash flows from financing activities 
by the same amount 
 
The above effect analysis is primarily in relation to ground rents payable by the Company to Malita 
Investments plc (previously to the Government of Malta) on the temporary emphyteuses and the related 
aerodrome licence fee payable to the Government of Malta 

 
IAS 1 and IAS 8 Amendment – Definition of Material 
 
This amendment was issued in October 2018 and is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2020. The Amendment clarifies the definition of material and how it should be applied by including 
in the definition guidance that until now has featured elsewhere in IFRS Standards. In addition, the 
explanations accompanying the definition have been improved. Finally, the amendment ensures that the 
definition of material is consistent across all IFRS Standards. 
 
 

5. Operating Segments 
 
IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the 
Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the 
segments and to assess their performance. 
 
For management purposes the Group is organised into operating segments based on the nature of its 
operations and has the reportable segments as shown below. 
 
Management monitors the operating results of its segments separately for the purposes of making decisions 
about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on 
earnings before interest, tax and deferred income arising from the sale of terminal buildings and fixtures 
(EBIT). Revenues and certain costs are allocated in full to particular segments. The remaining costs are 
allocated across the different segments on the basis of square meters or revenues, as applicable. The Group 
and the Company financing (including finance income and finance costs), deferred income arising from the 
sale of terminal buildings and fixtures and income tax are managed on a Group and Company basis and are 
not allocated to operating segments. 
 
Airport Segment 
 
The Airport Segment comprises of the activities usually carried out by an airport. These services include 
revenue from airport regulated fees, aviation concessions and PRMs (persons with reduced mobility) and 
their associated costs. This segment also includes the operations and maintenance of the terminal, runways, 
taxiways and aircraft parks. 
 
Retail and Property Segment 
 
The Retail and Property Segment includes various services that support the airport operations. These include 
the operations of the various retail outlets within the airport perimeter, advertising sites and rental of offices, 
warehouses and income from the running of the VIP lounges. Income and costs from Airport Parking Limited, 
Sky Parks Business Centre Limited and Sky Parks Development Limited are also allocated within the Retail 
and Property Segment. 
 
Other Segment 
 
This comprises services that do not fall under the Airport and the Retail and Property Segments, which 
include miscellaneous income and disbursement fees from third parties as well as any costs associated with 
this income.  
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5. Operating Segments (continued) 
 
The results of the operating segments are reported below: 
 

 
 
 
Airport segment revenues generated from two clients amounted to EUR 21,548,739 and EUR 20,701,872 
(2017: EUR 19,335,736 and EUR 16,686,558). 
 

  

2018 Retail &

(in EUR) Airport Property Other The Group

Revenue (external) 65,538,107    26,318,723    334,889         92,191,719    

Staff costs (8,447,667)     (1,299,500)     -                (9,747,167)     

Other operating costs (22,221,629)   (5,792,497)     -                (28,014,126)   

EBITDA 34,868,811    19,226,726    334,889         54,430,426    

Depreciation (4,973,379)     (2,411,024)     -                (7,384,403)     

EBIT 29,895,432    16,815,702    334,889         47,046,023    

Investment income/(loss) (7,021)           

Finance cost (148,915)        

Release of deferred income arising on the 

sale of terminal buildings and fixtures 208,765         

Profit before tax 47,098,852    

2017 Retail &

(in EUR) Airport Property Other The Group

Revenue (external) 59,003,393    22,980,252    385,509         82,369,154    

Staff costs (6,755,767)     (1,289,619)     -                (8,045,386)     

Other operating costs (21,381,231)   (4,369,033)     -                (25,750,264)   

EBITDA 30,866,395    17,321,600    385,509         48,573,504    

Depreciation (4,944,816)     (2,465,812)     -                (7,410,628)     

EBIT 25,921,579    14,855,788    385,509         41,162,876    

Investment income 4,406            

Finance cost (3,808,536)     

Release of deferred income arising on the 

sale of terminal buildings and fixtures 208,765         

Profit before tax 37,567,511    
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6. Revenue 
 
The Group’s and the Company’s main revenue streams as well as the nature and effect of initially applying 
IFRS 15 on these financial statements are disclosed in Notes 4 and 40. Due to the transition method chosen 
in applying IFRS 15, comparative information has not been restated to reflect the new requirements. 
 
In the following table, revenue of the Group is disaggregated by revenue category. The table also includes a 
reconciliation of the disaggregated revenue with the Group’s operating segments (see Note 5). 
 

 
 
 
In the following table, revenue of the Company is disaggregated by revenue category: 
 

 
 
All the Group’s revenues and its non-current assets other than financial assets are attributable to the 
Company’s country of domicile. 
 
The aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied 
(or partially unsatisfied) as of the end of the reporting period either relates to contracts that have an original 
expected duration of one year or less or is in relation to contracts for which the Company and the Group 
provide a daily service of access that is distinct, with the uncertainty related to the consideration receivable 
being also resolved on that basis. 
 

  

The Group

2018 Retail and

(in EUR) Airport Property Other Total

Revenue from Services

provided Over Time

 Regulated revenue 59,484,658    -               -               59,484,658    

 Unregulated revenue 6,053,449     5,172,043     334,889        11,560,381    

Revenue from Contracts with Customers 65,538,107    5,172,043     334,889        71,045,039    

Revenue from Leases -               21,146,680    -               21,146,680    

Total Revenue 65,538,107    26,318,723    334,889        92,191,719    

The Group

2017 Retail and

(in EUR) Airport Property Other Total

Revenue from Services

provided Over Time

 Regulated revenue 53,363,556    -               -               53,363,556    

 Unregulated revenue 5,639,838     4,222,992     385,509        10,248,338    

Revenue from Contracts with Customers 59,003,393    4,222,992     385,509        63,611,894    

Revenue from Leases -               18,757,260    -               18,757,260    

Total Revenue 59,003,393    22,980,252    385,509        82,369,154    

The Company

(in EUR) 2018 2017

Revenue from Services

provided Over Time

 Regulated revenue 59,484,658    53,363,556    

 Unregulated revenue 10,944,962    9,669,433     

Revenue from Contracts with Customers 70,429,620    63,032,989    

Revenue from Leases 17,626,440    15,414,372    

Total Revenue 88,056,060    78,447,361    
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7. Investment Income 
 

 
 
 

8. Finance Cost 
 

 
 
The early repayment fee in 2017 resulted from the settlement of a high fixed interest rate loan repaid to the 
lenders prior to its maturity. This early loan settlement enables the Group to realise savings on interest on 
bank loans from 2018 onwards that will exceed the fee. 
 
 

9. Other Operating Expenses 
 

 
 

  

Investment Income

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Interest income on loans receivable -               245              402,562        114,529        

Interest income on bank deposits -               4,161            -               4,161            

Fair value gain/(loss) on other investments (7,021)           -               (7,021)           -               

Investment income/(loss) (7,021)           4,406            395,541        118,690        

The Group The Company

Finance Costs

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Interest on bank loans 148,915        1,033,536    139,212       342,542       

Early repayment fee -               2,775,000    -              -              

Finance cost 148,915        3,808,536    139,212       342,542       

The Group The Company

Other Operating Expenses

(in EUR) Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017

Repairs and maintenance 3,220,609    1,345,879    2,942,510    1,135,806    

Marketing and communication costs 6,013,894    4,983,418    5,969,883    4,888,370    

Insurance 353,999      333,768      338,771      322,604      

Telecommunications 107,131      100,268      104,653      98,158        

Utilities 3,040,622    2,800,125    3,026,072    2,758,402    

Air traffic services 35 921,173      921,173      921,173      921,173      

Ground handling services 1,734,321    1,729,591    1,734,321    1,729,591    

Provision of technical services 35 164,651      1,799,172    164,651      1,799,172    

Restricted areas security service 35 1,800,000    1,800,000    1,800,000    1,800,000    

Passenger security service 2,043,020    1,473,633    2,043,020    1,473,633    

Other security services 167,879      103,202      117,530      45,370        

Cleaning 1,113,657    1,081,817    1,049,310    1,008,849    

Legal and professional fees 1,692,592    504,198      1,641,592    475,508      

Losses/(gains) on disposal of fixed assets -             (7,670)         -             (7,670)         

Net exchange differences 16,043        14,491        16,598        15,617        

Operating lease and and related payments 34 2,150,591    3,963,309    2,150,591    3,834,074    

Movements in provision for bad debts 21 18,157        14,289        40,578        14,289        

Miscellaneous operating expenses 3,455,787    2,789,600    3,289,706    2,667,128    

Other operating expenses 28,014,126  25,750,264  27,350,959  24,980,075  

The Group The Company
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9. Other Operating Expenses (continued) 
 
Included in the legal and professional fees are amounts that are payable to the parent Company’s auditor: 
 

 
 
 

10. Key Management Personnel Compensation 
 

 
 
In addition, during the year under review, the Company granted other benefits to its directors. The aggregate 
amount of benefits, which includes monetary and non-monetary benefits, amounted to EUR 92,989 
(2017: EUR 79,082). These amounts are included with other operating expenses. 
 
Also, during the year under review, the Company maintained professional indemnity insurance for its 
directors. The aggregate amount of premiums paid in respect thereof amounted to EUR 12,972 (2017: 
EUR 12,972). These amounts are included with other operating expenses. 
 
 

11. Staff Costs and Employee Information 
 

 
 
The above amounts include the directors’ compensation disclosed in Note 10. 
 
The average number of persons employed during the year, including Executive Directors, was made up as 
follows: 
 

  

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Audit of the financial statements 62,000        59,900        48,350        46,850        

Other assurance 8,685          18,050        8,685          18,050        

Tax services 68,760        32,585        31,810        24,805        

The Group The Company

Directors' compensation

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Short-term benefits:

Fees 67,552        67,070        67,552        67,070        

Management remuneration 506,433       474,107       506,433       474,107       

Social security costs 2,416          2,280          2,416          2,280          

576,401       543,457       576,401       543,457       

The Group The Company

Staff Costs

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Wages and salaries 8,976,006    7,428,551    8,759,034    7,202,274    

Social security costs 631,662       529,032       622,605       519,498       

Retirement benefit costs 73,999        59,003        73,999         59,003        

Other retirement benefit costs 65,500        28,800        65,500         28,800        

9,747,167    8,045,386    9,521,138    7,809,575    

The CompanyThe Group

Average No. of Employees

(Number) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Business development, 

operations and marketing 198             185             189             175             

Finance, IT and IM 22               18               22               18               

Firemen 42               32               42               32               

Met office 14               14               14               14               

Technical and engineering 64               58               64               58               

340             307             331             297             

The Group The Company
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12. Income Tax Expense 
 
Income tax recognised in profit or loss is as follows: 
 

 
 
Tax applying the statutory domestic income tax rate and the income tax expense for the year is reconciled 
as follows: 
 

 
 
 
Deferred tax recognised in other comprehensive income is as follows: 
 

 
 

 

13. Dividends 
 
The net final dividend for 2017 of EUR 9,471,000 (EUR 7.0 cents per ordinary share) proposed by the 
directors of the Company in the previous financial year was approved by the shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting on 8 May 2018 and was paid on 25 May 2018. The net final dividend for 2016 of EUR 
9,471,000 (EUR 7.0 cents per ordinary share) proposed by the directors during 2017 was paid on 26 May 
2017. 
 
On 14 September 2018, a net interim dividend of EUR 4,059,000 (EUR 3.0 cents per share) (2017: EUR 
4,059,000 (EUR 3.0 cents per share)) was paid to ordinary shareholders of the Company. 
 
The directors propose that a net final dividend of EUR 9.0 cents per ordinary share will be paid to ordinary 
shareholders in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018. This dividend is subject to approval by 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and has not been included as a liability in the financial 
statements. The total proposed dividend to be paid is EUR 12,177,000. 

  

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Current tax expense 16,260,972   14,852,094   15,703,225   14,356,318   

Deferred tax 502,240        (1,435,063)    366,117        (408,112)       

Income tax expense 16,763,212   13,417,031   16,069,342   13,948,206   

The CompanyThe Group

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Profit before Tax 47,098,852   37,567,511   45,154,661   39,127,579   

Tax at applicable rate of 35 % 16,484,598   13,148,629   15,804,131   13,694,653   

Tax effect of:

Depreciation charges not 

deductible by way of capital 

allowances in determining 

taxable income 345,963        346,368        287,590        287,946        

Other net difference between 

accounting and tax deductible 

items of expenditure (4,254)          (4,052)          (4,254)          (4,052)          

Finance income subject to lower 

tax rates -               (832)             -               (832)             

Other differences (63,095)        (73,082)        (18,125)        (29,509)        

Income tax expense

for the year 16,763,212   13,417,031   16,069,342   13,948,206   

The Group The Company

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Deferred tax credit on defined

benefit pension plans (16,732)        -               (16,732)        -               

The Group The Company
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment 
 

 
 
No depreciation is being charged on assets not yet available for use amounting to EUR 3,803,163 
(2017: EUR 3,816,899).  

Property, Plant and Equipment Furniture,

Land held on fixtures,

The Group temporary plant and 

(in EUR) emphyteusis Buildings equipment Total

Cost

At 1 January 2017 42,033,473      66,032,398      63,799,442      171,865,313     

Additions 0                     2,834,395        10,958,467      13,792,862      

Disposals -                  (55,288)            (150,063)          (205,351)          

Write-offs -                  -                  -                  -                  

At 1 January 2018 42,033,473      68,811,505      74,607,846      185,452,824     

Additions -                  2,228,979        6,204,677        8,433,656        

Disposals -                  -                  -                  -                  

Write-offs -                  -                  (10,831,422)     (10,831,422)     

At 31 December 2018 42,033,473      71,040,484      69,981,101      183,055,058     

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2017 9,322,812        25,868,834      38,003,810      73,195,456      

Provision for the year 646,669           1,336,853        4,619,209        6,602,731        

Eliminated on disposals -                  (55,288)            (154,469)          (209,757)          

Transfers -                  -                  -                  -                  

At 1 January 2018 9,969,481        27,150,399      42,468,550      79,588,430      

Provision for the year 646,669           1,395,294        4,544,456        6,586,419        

Eliminated on disposal -                  -                  -                  -                  

Write-offs -                  -                  (10,831,422)     (10,831,422)     

At 31 December 2018 10,616,150      28,545,693      36,181,584      75,343,427      

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2017 32,063,992      41,661,106      32,139,296      105,864,394     

At 31 December 2018 31,417,323      42,494,791      33,799,517      107,711,631     
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 
 

 
 
 
No depreciation is being charged on assets not yet available for use amounting to EUR 3,796,439 
(2017: EUR 3,806,892). 
 
In addition, the cost of fully depreciated plant and equipment amounts to EUR 16,976,843 
(2017: EUR 22,772,049) for both the Group and the Company. 

  

Furniture,

Land held on fixtures,

The Company temporary plant and 

(in EUR) emphyteusis Buildings equipment Total

Cost

At 1 January 2017 42,033,473      66,032,398      62,902,859      170,968,730     

Additions 0                     2,834,395        10,927,073      13,761,468      

Disposals -                  (55,288)            (150,063)          (205,351)          

Transfers -                  -                  -                  

At 1 January 2018 42,033,473      68,811,505      73,679,869      184,524,847     

Additions -                  958,200           6,121,869        7,080,069        

Disposals -                  -                  -                  -                  

Write-offs -                  -                  (10,831,422)     (10,831,422)     

At 31 December 2018 42,033,473      69,769,705      68,970,315      180,773,494     

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2017 9,322,812        25,868,834      37,470,552      72,662,198      

Provision for the year 646,669           1,336,853        4,531,523        6,515,045        

Eliminated on disposals -                  (55,288)            (154,469)          (209,757)          

Transfers -                  -                  -                  

At 1 January 2018 9,969,481        27,150,399      41,847,606      78,967,486      

Provision for the year 646,669           1,395,294        4,452,433        6,494,396        

Eliminated on disposal -                  -                  -                  -                  

Write-offs -                  (10,831,422)     (10,831,422)     

At 31 December 2018 10,616,150      28,545,693      35,468,616      74,630,460      

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2017 32,063,992      41,661,106      31,832,263      105,557,361     

At 31 December 2018 31,417,323      41,224,012      33,501,699      106,143,034     
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15. Investment Property 
 
The investment property relates to the business centre which is located on the land held on temporary 
emphyteusis. The carrying amount incorporates the cost of construction and the cost of items that are an 
integral part of the building. 
 

  
 
During the year, direct operating expenses of EUR 949,583 (2017: EUR 911,248), which arose from the 
Investment Property, were incurred. Such expenses were incurred in generating rental income during the 
year. 
 
Fair Value 
 
Based on an internal valuation carried out by the directors of the Company, the fair value of the investment 
property was in the region of EUR 30 million at the balance sheet date (2017: EUR 29 million). 
 
The fair value measurement is categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The model is based on 
the present value of the net cash flows expected to be generated by the property on the basis of market 
expectations and includes the rates stipulated in the existing contracts with tenants, expected increase in 
rents after the non-cancellable period, occupancy rates and all other costs attributable to these assets. The 
expected net cash flows are discounted using a discount factor representing a weighted average cost of 
capital that is considered appropriate in the circumstances. The net cash flows reflect the amounts in the 
2018 budget and long-term corporate planning. 
 
In estimating fair value, the highest and best use of the property is its current use. 
  

The Group Investment

(in EUR) property

Cost

At 1 January 2017 20,625,361       

Additions from subsequent expenditure 224,402            

Disposals -                   

At 1 January 2018 20,849,763       

Additions from subsequent expenditure 15,367             

Disposals -                   

At 31 December 2018 20,865,130       

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2017 3,385,164         

Provision for the year 807,897            

Eliminated on disposals -                   

At 1 January 2018 4,193,061         

Provision for the year 797,984            

Eliminated on disposal -                   

At 31 December 2018 4,991,045         

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2017 16,656,702       

At 31 December 2018 15,874,085       
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16. Investment in Subsidiaries 
 
The Company’s investment in subsidiaries is stated at cost and comprises: 
 

 
 
The Company holds a 100% (2017: 100%) ownership in the ordinary share capital of Airport Parking Limited, 
a limited liability company incorporated in Malta, whose principal activity is the operation of car parks within 
the limits of the airport. 
 
The Company holds a 100% (2017: 100%) ownership in the ordinary share capital of Sky Parks Development 
Limited, a limited company incorporated in Malta, whose principal activity is to manage real estate projects 
within the land which is currently under the management of the Group. 
 
The Company holds a 100% (2017: 100%) ownership in the ordinary share capital of Sky Parks Business 
Centre Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in Malta, whose principal activity is to operate the 
Business Centre within the limits of the airport.  
 
The Company holds a 100% (2017: 100%) ownership in the ordinary share capital of Kirkop PV Farm Limited, 
a limited liability company incorporated in Malta. The principal activity of this company is to explore 
opportunities in the generation of electricity using photovoltaic technologies. 
 
The principal place of business of the company’s subsidiaries is Malta. 
 
The registered offices for these subsidiaries are as follows: 
 
Airport Parking Ltd 
Level 2 
Malta International Airport Head Office 
Malta International Airport 
Luqa LQA 4000 
 
Sky Parks Development Ltd 
Malta International Airport Head Office 
Malta International Airport 
Luqa LQA 4000 

Sky Parks Business Centre Ltd 
Malta International Airport Head Office 
Malta International Airport 
Luqa LQA 4000 
 
Kirkop PV Farm Limited 
Malta International Airport Head Office 
Malta International Airport 
Luqa LQA 4000 

  

Share Capital

(in EUR) 2018 2017

Airport Parking Limited 1,200            1,200            

Sky Parks Development Limited 2,001,200     2,001,200     

Sky Parks Business Centre Limited 1,200            1,200            

Kirkop PV Farm Limited 1,200            1,200            

Investment in subsidiaries 2,004,800     2,004,800     

The Company
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16. Investment in Subsidiaries (continued) 
 
The following table shows financial information for the consolidated subsidiaries: 
 

 
 
 

17. Other Investments 
 
Investment fund policy 
 

 
 
As at 31 December 2017, the Company held a policy which was linked to a number of unit-linked investment 
funds. Its fair value was determined by the prices quoted on the Malta Stock Exchange for the underlying 
funds (Level 2). During the period ended 31 December 2018 the investment fund policy was surrendered. 
 
The Company used the fair value hierarchy outlined in Note 40. The fair value level as at 31 December 2017 
is in accordance with the inputs being applied to value the instrument. There were no transfers into and out 
of Level 3 for financial instruments. 
 
As further disclosed in Note 4, upon the adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018, the asset was reclassified 
from available-for-sale to financial assets measured at FVTPL. This reclassification did not result in a change 
to the asset’s carrying amount. 

  

Airport Parking Ltd

(in EUR) 2018 2017

Profit for the year 350,663        358,651        

Share Capital 1,200            1,200            

Retained earnings 1,292,863     942,200        

Total Equity 1,294,063     943,400        

Sky Parks Development Ltd

(in EUR) 2018 2017

Profit/(Loss) for the year 387,555        (1,814,749)    

Share Capital 2,001,200     2,001,200     

Accumulated Losses (3,087,206)    (3,474,761)    

Total Equity (1,086,006)    (1,473,561)    

Sky Parks Business Centre Ltd.

(in EUR) 2018 2017

Profit for the year 512,102        427,203        

Share Capital 1,200            1,200            

Retained earnings 971,856        459,754        

Total Equity 973,056        460,954        

The Group & The Company

(in EUR) Fair  Value Level

Fair value

At 1 January 2017 103,648          Level 2

Movement in fair value 3,930              

At 1 January 2018 107,578          Level 2

Disposals (100,557)         

Movement in fair value (7,021)             

At 31 December 2018 -                 Level 2
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18. Loans Receivable 
 

 
 
The Company has granted three unsecured loans to one of its subsidiaries, one of which was granted during 
the reporting period. The interest rates of all loans comprise a margin which is over and above the bank base 
rate. 
 
In the reporting period the subsidiary commenced repaying two loans with a total loan amount of EUR 15.5 
million on equal annual instalments until 2029. At the reporting date, these loans incurred interest at a floating 
rate of 2.00% per annum (2017: 2.00%). Repayments of the third loan with an amount outstanding of EUR 
4.6 million (2017: EUR 4.6 million) will commence in 2030. Interest incurred on this loan remained at a floating 
rate of 2.25% (2017: 2.25%) per annum as at the reporting date. 
 
The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening to the closing balances for the loans to subsidiary: 
 

 
 
  

The Company Loans to

(in EUR)  subsidiary

Amortised cost

At 31 December 2018 18,797,918        

Less: Amount expected to be settled within

12 months (shown under current assets) 1,290,720         

Amount expected to be settled after 12 months 17,507,198        

The Company Loans to

(in EUR)  subsidiary

Amortised cost

At 31 December 2017 18,363,315        

Less: Amount expected to be settled within

12 months (shown under current assets) 1,146,943         

Amount expected to be settled after 12 months 17,216,372        

The Company Loans to

(in EUR)  subsidiary

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2016 4,600,000         

Additions 13,763,315        

At 31 December 2017 18,363,315        

Additions 1,725,323         

Repayments (1,290,720)        

At 31 December 2018 18,797,918        
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19. Deferred Taxation 
 

 
 
 

 
 
The movement recognised in total comprehensive income during the current year for both the Group and the 
Company includes deferred tax of EUR 16,732 (2017: -) in connection with defined benefit plans, which 
deferred tax was recognised in other comprehensive income. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against 
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. The amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognised is based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax-planning 
strategies. 
  

The Group Movement Movement

(in EUR) 31.12.2016 for the year 31.12.2017 for the year 31.12.2018

Arising on:

Accelerated tax depreciation (1,062,509)   (436,554)      (1,499,063)   (406,861)      (1,905,924)   

Provision for pension costs 1,326,558    14,927         1,341,485    (132,484)      1,209,001    

Deferred income 1,857,723    (73,068)        1,784,655    (73,069)        1,711,587    

Unabsorbed capital allowances 1,412,822    175,834       1,588,656    51,714         1,640,370    

Ground rent payable 895,042       712,218       1,607,260    156,170       1,763,430    

Future deductions of refinancing costs -              968,309       968,309       (85,976)        882,333       

Other temporary differences 109,224       73,397         182,621       4,997           187,618       

Subtotal 4,538,860    1,435,063    5,973,923    (485,508)      5,488,415    

Arising on:

Revaluation of properties

on privatisation (661,277)      26,193         (635,084)      26,193         (608,891)      

Provision for pension costs 206,204       -              206,204       -              206,204       

Subtotal (455,073)      26,193         (428,880)      26,193         (402,687)      

Total 4,083,787    1,461,256    5,545,042    (459,315)      5,085,728    

Recognised in Total Comprehensive Income:

Recognised in Equity:

The Company Movement Movement

(in EUR) 31.12.2016 for the year 31.12.2017 for the year 31.12.2018

Arising on:

Accelerated tax depreciation 99,770         (270,343)      (170,573)      (314,205)      (484,778)      

Provision for pension costs 1,326,558    14,927         1,341,485    (132,484)      1,209,001    

Deferred income 1,857,723    (73,068)        1,784,655    (73,068)        1,711,587    

Ground Rent Payable 895,042       712,218       1,607,260    156,168       1,763,428    

Other temporary differences 160,671       24,378         185,049       14,204         199,253       

Subtotal 4,339,764    408,112       4,747,876    (349,385)      4,398,491    

Arising on:

Revaluation of properties

on privatisation (661,277)      26,193         (635,084)      26,193         (608,891)      

Provision for pension costs 206,204       -              206,204       -              206,204       

Subtotal (455,073)      26,193         (428,880)      26,193         (402,687)      

Total 3,884,691    434,305       4,318,996    (323,192)      3,995,804    

Recognised in Total Comprehensive Income:

Recognised in Equity:
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20. Inventories 
 

  
 
 

21. Trade and Other Receivables 
 

 
 
The terms and conditions of the receivables from subsidiaries and related parties are disclosed in Note 33. 
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-day terms. 
 
Impairment of Trade Receivables 
 
The effect of initially applying IFRS 9 is described in Note 4. For details on the accounting policies with 
respect to trade receivables and impairment of trade receivables refer to Note 40. 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Consumables 884,352      891,511      884,352      891,511      

The CompanyThe Group

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Trade receivables 13,190,401   10,576,836   12,825,074   10,056,596   

Receivables from other related parties 3,355,751     2,852,353     3,355,751     2,852,353     

Receivables from subsidiaries -               -               910,199        533,923        

Other receivables 2,241,090     863,792        1,790,851     444,415        

Prepayments and accrued income 1,215,664     1,090,391     912,240        389,186        

20,002,906   15,383,372   19,794,115   14,276,473   

The Group The Company

The Group Individual Collective

(in EUR) Assessment Assessment Total

At 1 January 2017 113,350        22,439          135,789        

Impairment loss 14,289          14,289          

Reversal of impairment loss (6,382)          (6,382)          

At 31 December 2017 121,257        22,439          143,696        

Impairment loss -               40,578          40,578          

Reversal of impairment loss (22,421)         (22,421)         

At 31 December 2018 98,836          63,017          161,853        

Loss Allowance

The Company Individual Collective

(in EUR) Assessment Assessment Total

At 1 January 2017 62,790          22,439          85,229          

Impairment loss 14,289          14,289          

Reversal of impairment loss (6,382)          (6,382)          

At 31 December 2017 70,697          22,439          93,136          

Impairment loss -               40,578          40,578          

Reversal of impairment loss -               -               

At 31 December 2018 70,697          63,017          133,714        

Loss Allowance
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21. Trade and Other Receivables (continued) 
 
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year for the Group 
and the Company was as follows: 
 

 
 
 
Ageing of Trade Receivables 
 
As at 31 December 2017, the ageing analysis of trade receivables was as follows: 
 

 
 
The Group and the Company do not hold any collateral over the past due but not impaired balances; these 
trade receivables are substantially companies with good track records with the Group. 
 

  

LT-ECL LT-ECL LT-ECL 2018 2017

The Group

(in EUR)

Balance as at at 1 January -                  22,439             121,257           143,696     135,789     

Addition 34,224             6,354               -                  40,578      14,289      

Reversal -                  -                  (22,421)            (22,421)     (6,382)       

Balance as at 31 December 34,224             28,793             98,836             161,853     143,696     

LT-ECL LT-ECL LT-ECL 2018 2017

The Company

(in EUR)

Balance as at at 1 January 22,439             70,697             93,136      85,229      

Addition 34,224             6,354               -                  40,578      14,289      

Reversal -                  -                  -                  -            (6,382)       

Balance as at 31 December 34,224             28,793             70,697             133,714     93,136      

Total

Collective

(not credit-

impaired)

Collective

(credit-impaired, 

but not POCI)

Individual

(credit-impaired, 

but not POCI) Total Total

Collective

(not credit-

impaired)

Collective

(credit-impaired, 

but not POCI)

Individual

(credit-impaired, 

but not POCI) Total

(in EUR) Total 30-60 days 60 days 90 days > 120 days

The Group 13,429,189  7,544,833    4,398,949   905,072      432,168      148,166      

The Company 12,908,950  7,373,990    4,380,422   696,666      347,579      110,293      

Neither past 

due nor 

impaired

Past due but not impaired
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22. Trade and Other Payables 
 

 
 
Contract liabilities represent prepayments from contracts with customers in relation to VIP services. The 
balance as at 1 January 2018 of EUR 287,397 was fully recognised as revenue during the reporting period. 
 
Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities: 
 

• Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. 

• Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of three months. 

• The terms and conditions of the payables due to the related party and the subsidiaries are disclosed 
in Note 33. 

 
All the above amounts are unsecured. 
 
 

23. Bank Loans 
 

 
 
As at 31 December 2017 the Company held two bank loans of EUR 10.5 million and EUR 5.8 million carrying 
a floating interest rate of 2.25% which were to expire in 2026 and 2027 and repayable in annual instalments, 
respectively. In addition, the Company held a bullet loan of EUR 15 million carrying a floating interest rate of 
2.00%, which was due in 2026. These loans were secured by a general hypothec over all of the Company’s 
present and future assets, with the exception of terminal buildings and other sites. All outstanding balances 
as at 31 December 2017 were settled in full during the reporting period. 
 
In 2010 Sky Parks Development Limited was granted bank loans amounting to EUR 16 million which were 
repayable by 2030 and secured by guarantees and a general hypothec over the commercial block, consisting 
of car parking spaces, retail outlets and other floor space held for rental purposes. The incurred interest was 
6.00% (fixed interest rate) in relation to outstanding bank loans of EUR 10.9 million and 2.25% (floating 
interest rate) in relation to outstanding bank loans of EUR 1.7 million. The outstanding balance on the 6.00% 
fixed interest rate loan of EUR 10.9 million was repaid in full in 2017, whereas the EUR 1.7 million balance 
was settled in full in 2018. 
 
The movements for the year are included in the Statement of Cash Flows within the cash flows from financing 
activities. The maturity of the bank borrowings are disclosed in Note 37. 

  

Trade and Other Payables

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Trade payables 2,044,849    3,346,688    2,002,509    3,273,696    

Other payables 8,352,995    6,456,965    8,116,828    6,093,935    

Payables due to related party -              65,031         -              65,031         

Payables due to subsidiaries -              -              546,410       449,987       

Contract liabilities 409,174       -              409,174       -              

Accruals and deferred income 35,768,086  30,708,250  35,296,433  30,256,908  

46,575,104  40,576,934  46,371,354  40,139,557  

The Group The Company

Trade and Other Payables

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Current bank loans -               1,868,923     -               1,781,423     

Non-current bank loans -               31,147,638    -               29,510,101    

The Group The Company
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24. Deferred Income 
 

 
 
 

 
  

The Group

(in EUR) 2017 Additions Amortisation 2018

Deferred income arising from the gain on the sale 

and leaseback of the buildings and fixtures upon 

privatisation 5,099,018   -            (208,765)      4,890,253   

European Commission grant 402,570     -            (40,255)        362,315      

Norwegian grant 51,762       -            (51,762)        -             

Government grant 29,971       -            (9,991)          19,980        

Deposit received from tenant 98,819       15,146       -              113,965      

Total deferred income as at 31 December 5,682,140   15,146       (310,773)      5,386,513   

Less: amounts included in trade and other payables 

(Note 22) (310,772)    (259,009)     

Amounts included in non-current liabilities 5,371,368   5,127,504   

The Group

(in EUR) 2016 Additions Amortisation 2017

Deferred income arising from the gain on the sale 

and leaseback of the buildings and fixtures upon 

privatisation 5,307,783   -            (208,765)      5,099,018   

European Commission grant 442,825     -            (40,255)        402,570      

Norwegian grant 103,523     -            (51,761)        51,762        

Government grant 39,962       -            (9,991)          29,971        

Deposit received from tenant 84,506       14,313       -              98,819        

Total deferred income as at 31 December 5,978,599   14,313       (310,772)      5,682,140   

Less: amounts included in trade and other payables 

(Note 22) (310,772)    (310,772)     

Amounts included in non-current liabilities 5,667,827   5,371,368   

Movement for the year

Movement for the year

The Company

(in EUR) 2017 Additions Amortisation 2018

Deferred income arising from the gain on the sale 

and leaseback of the buildings and fixtures upon 

privatisation 5,099,018   -            (208,765)      4,890,253   

European Commission grant 402,570     -            (40,255)        362,315      

Norwegian grant 51,762       -            (51,762)        -             

Government grant 29,971       -            (9,991)          19,980        

Total deferred income as at 31 December 5,583,321   -            (310,773)      5,272,548   

Less: amounts included in trade and other payables 

(note 22) (310,772)    (259,009)     

Amounts included in non-current liabilities 5,272,549   5,013,539   

Movement for the year
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24. Deferred Income (continued) 
 

 
 
The deferred income arising from the gain on the sale and leaseback of the buildings and fixtures that took 
place on the date of the privatisation of the Company in 2002 is being taken to income in accordance with 
the accounting policy stated in Note 40. 
 
The European Commission grant is composed of grants related to assets and which were received in 2006 
and 2011 in respect of the upgrading of the taxiways project. The Norwegian grant is related to the 
implementation of the Schengen project and was received in 2009. The Government grant is related to the 
installation of the photovoltaic system and was received in 2011. 
 
 

25. Provision for the Retirement Benefit Plan 
 

 
 
The provision at year end represents the estimated amounts that are to be reimbursed by the Company to 
the Government of Malta. The provision for retirement benefits is unfunded and represents the Company’s 
and the Group’s share of the year end provision in accordance with the Pensions Ordinance (Cap 93) for 
possible future liabilities relating to pensions of employees who joined the public service before 15 January 
1979 and were transferred to the Company. 
 
The provision has been computed in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 40 and represents 
the Company’s and the Group’s obligation (i) discounted to the net present value at the rate which has been 
determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on high quality corporate bonds 
in Euros (ii) after considering the average life expectancy of such employees based on the latest publicly 
available mortality tables and (iii) where applicable, expected rates of salary increases based on the inflation 
and previous increases given to employees and (iv) the Company’s expectations, based on historic data, of 
the payment options that will be selected by the plan members, being either an annual benefit per employee 
or a lump sum payment plus a reduced annual benefit per employee until death, capped in accordance with 
statutory requirements. 
 

  

The Company

(in EUR) 2016 Additions Amortisation 2017

Deferred income arising from the gain on the sale 

and leaseback of the buildings and fixtures upon 

privatisation 5,307,783   -            (208,765)      5,099,018   

European Commission grant 442,826     -            (40,255)        402,570      

Norwegian grant 103,523     -            (51,761)        51,762        

Government grant 39,962       -            (9,991)          29,971        

Total deferred income as at 31 December 5,894,094   -            (310,772)      5,583,321   

Less: amounts included in trade and other payables 

(note 22) (310,772)    (310,772)     

Amounts included in non-current liabilities 5,583,322   5,272,549   

Movement for the year

Provision for Retirement Benefit Fund

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Non-current provision 3,906,809     4,408,590     3,906,809     4,408,590     

The CompanyThe Group
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25. Provision for the Retirement Benefit Plan (continued) 
 
The movement in the provision for retirement benefit plan may be analysed as follows:  
 

 
 
The year-end obligation includes EUR 3,661,664 (2017: EUR 3,865,665) in relation to retired employees. 
 
The plan exposes the Group and the Company to such risks as (i) interest risk, since a decrease in market 
yields will increase the plan liability; (ii) longevity risk, since an increase in the life expectancy of the plan 
participants will increase the plan liability; and (iii) salary risk, since an increase in the salary of the plan 
participants will increase the plan liability. 
 
The significant actuarial assumptions used to determine the present value of the retirement benefit plan were 
as follows: 
 

 
 
The sensitivity analyses below are in connection with each significant actuarial assumption and are prepared 
as of the end of the reporting period, showing how the defined benefit obligation would have been affected 
by hypothetical changes in the relevant actuarial assumption that were reasonably possible at that date, while 
holding all other assumptions constant.   

The Group & The Company

(in EUR) 2018 2017

Present value of the provision for

retirement benefits at 1 January 4,408,590     4,365,940     

Payments effected (500,326)       -               

Recognised in Staff costs

Charge for the year 45,020          42,650          

  thereof Service costs 44,210          41,968          

  thereof Interest costs 810              682              

Recognised in Other 

Comprehensive Income

Actuarial gains resulting from 

changes in financial assumptions, 

gross of deferred tax (46,475)         -               

Present value of the provision 

for retirement benefits at 31 

December 3,906,809     4,408,590     

2018 2017

Discount rate(s) 1.8% 1.6%

Mortality rate(s) in years

- Males 79                79                

- Females 83                83                
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25. Provision for the Retirement Benefit Plan (continued) 
 
The sensitivity analyses presented below are for illustrative purposes only and may not be representative of 
the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would 
occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated. In presenting the sensitivity 
analyses, the present value of the obligation has been calculated using the projected unit credit method at 
the end of the reporting period. The amounts generated from the sensitivity analyses represent forward-
looking estimates and hence, actual results in the future may differ materially from those projected results. 
 

• If the discount rate is 25 basis points higher (lower) with all other assumptions held constant, the 
defined benefit obligation decreases by EUR 56,531 (increases by EUR 58,272) (2017: decreases by 
EUR 63,565 (increases by EUR 65,570)). 
 

• If the life expectancy increases (decreases) by one year for both men and women with all other 
assumptions held constant, the defined benefit obligation increases by EUR 195,623 (decreases by 
EUR 209,033) (2017: increases by EUR 208,308 (decreases by EUR 204,738)). 

 
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation at 31 December 2018 is 18 years (2017: 18 
years) in relation to employees that are still employed by the Company and 10 years (2017: 11 years) in 
relation to retired employees. 
 
 

26. Provision for the MIA Benefit Plan 
 

 
 
The provision for the MIA benefit plan is unfunded and represents the year-end provision for possible future 
liabilities relating to payments to employees after their retirement as per the Company’s Collective 
Agreement. The provision has been computed in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 40 
and represents the Company’s possible obligation discounted to the net present value at the rate which has 
been determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on high quality corporate 
bonds in Euros after considering the probability that employees reach the applicable retirement age when 
they are still in employment with the Company. 

 
The movement in the provision for retirement pension plan may be analysed as follows: 
 

  

Provision for Retirement Benefit Fund

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Non-current provision 250,638       222,989       250,638       222,989       

The Group The Company

The Group & The Company

(in EUR) 2018 2017

Present value of the provision for MIA 

benefit plan at 1 January 222,989       223,936       

Payments effected -              (17,300)       

Recognised in Staff costs

Charge for the year 28,979         16,353        

Recognised in Other 

Comprehensive Income

Actuarial gains resulting from 

changes in financial assumptions, 

gross of deferred tax (1,330)         -              

Present value of the provision for

MIA benefit plan at 31 December 250,638       222,989       
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27. Share Capital 
 

 
 
The Ordinary ‘A’ and ‘B’ shares have the same rights, benefits and powers in the Company save for the 
transferability thereof. Ordinary ‘A’ shares are freely transferred while the ‘B’ shares shall be non-transferable 
for a period of 15 years from 26 July 2002. Ordinary ‘C’ shares carry no voting rights and do not receive 
dividends. 
 

Shareholders 
 
The shareholders owning 5% or more of the Company’s equity share capital at 31 December 2018 were the 
following: 
 

 
 
The number of shareholders developed as follows: 
 

 
 
 

28. Reserves 
 

Other Reserve 
 
The other reserve emanates from the revaluation of the Company’s buildings close to the date of the 
privatisation of the Company in 2002 and represents unrealised amounts. 
 

Fair Value Reserve 
 
The fair value reserve originated from movements in fair values of available-for-sale financial assets and 
represented unrealised amounts. 
 
As a result of the initial application of IFRS 9 in the current reporting period, this asset was reclassified to 
financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) and the fair value reserve was 
reclassified to retained earning accordingly (see Note 4).  

The Company

(in EUR)

111,809,746 "A" ordinary shares of EUR 0.25 each (81,179,990 of 

which have been issued, called up and fully paid) 27,952,436 20,294,997

74,539,840 "B" ordinary shares of EUR 0.25 each (54,120,000 of 

which have been issued, called up and fully paid) 18,634,960 13,530,000

14 "C" ordinary shares of EUR 0.25 each (10 of which have been 

issued, called up and fully paid) 4 3

46,587,400 33,825,000

As at 31.12.2018 and 31.12.2017

Authorised

Issued and 

called up

Shareholder Share Type

Malta Mediterranean Link Consortium Ltd. 1) 40.0% 'B' shares

Government of Malta 20.0% 'A' and 'C' shares

VIE (Malta) Limited 10.1% 'A' shares

1) of which VIE (Malta) Limited and MMLC Holdings Malta Limited constitute 95.85%

Number of Shareholders 31.12.2018 14.09.2018 Change

1-500 shares 384 371 13

501-1,000 shares 740 759 -19

1,001-5,000 shares 3,692 3,726 -34

5,001 and over 1,562 1,597 -35

6,378 6,453 -75



Malta International Airport p.l.c. 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
Year Ended 31 December 2018 

 

53 

29. Cash and Short-Term Deposits 
 
Cash and short-term deposits shown in the statements of cash flow comprise the following amounts 
presented in the Statements of Financial Position: 
 

 
 

 

30. Earnings Per Share 
 
Earnings per ordinary share for the Group and the Company have been calculated by dividing the net profit 
for the year after taxation attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. 
 

 
 
There is no difference between the basic and diluted earnings per share as the Company has no potential 
dilutive ordinary shares. 
 
 

31. Capital Commitments 
 

 
 
 

32. Contingent Liabilities 
 
At reporting date, there existed the following contingent liabilities: 
 

(i) claims filed by former employees of the Company for unfair dismissal and wrong application of 
disciplinary procedures, the amount of which has not been determined; 

(ii) a claim filed by former CEO for unfair dismissal, the amount of which has not been determined; 

(iii) A judicial protest first lodged by the Government of Malta in 2008 relating to reimbursement of 
specified expenses and which were last estimated by the Government to amount to approximately 
EUR 5.1 million as at 31 December 2018 (2017: EUR 4.3 million) 

 
In the directors’ opinion, all the above contingent liabilities are unfounded. 

Provision for Retirement Benefit Fund

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Cash at bank and in hand 20,253,186   38,401,907    18,553,003    36,969,444    

The Group The Company

Provision for Retirement Benefit Fund

2018 2017 2018 2017

Profit for the year attributable to ordinary 

equity holders of the company (in EUR) 30,335,639     24,150,480     29,085,318     25,179,373     

Weighted average number of shares 135,299,990   135,299,990   135,299,990   135,299,990   

Earnings per share attributable to ordinary 

equity holders of the Company (in EUR) 0.224 0.178 0.215 0.186

The Group The Company

Provision for Retirement Benefit Fund

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Property, plant and equipment:

Contracted but not provided for 1,679,656      236,354       1,679,656    236,354       

Authorised but not contracted for 24,293,177    10,923,800   13,503,150   10,893,800   

Investment property:

Contracted but not provided for -                -              -              -              

Authorised but not contracted for 475,000         50,000         -              -              

The Group The Company
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33. Related Party Disclosures 
 
During the course of the year, the Group and the Company entered into transactions with related parties as 
set out below. Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated on 
consolidation. 
 
The related party transactions in question were: 
 

 
 
The Company has earned interest income amounting to EUR 402,562 (2017: EUR 114,529) on the loans 
granted to a subsidiary (see Note 18) 
 
The Company’s and the Group’s other operating costs for the current year in relation to related parties other 
than the parent and key management personnel comprise EUR 2,870,760 (2017: EUR 2,617,721) in 
connection with entities controlled by Government and EUR 168,435 (2017: EUR 859,116) which in 
connection with entities which have an equity interest in the Company’s parent. 
 
The amounts due to/from related parties are disclosed in Note 18, 21 and 22. The terms and conditions do 
not specify the nature of the consideration to be provided in settlement. No guarantees have been given or 
received. These amounts were unsecured and, except as specified in Note 18, are interest-free. 
 
In addition to the above, the details of the material contracts entered into by the Company in the year ended 
31 December 2018 with its substantial shareholders and their related parties are disclosed in Note 35. 
 
Property, plant and equipment include land held on temporary emphyteusis, which relates to the land 
assigned by the Government of Malta to the Group and the Company by title of temporary emphyteusis. This 
is amortised over the remaining term of the lease as disclosed in Note 34.  

Related Related

The Group party Total party Total
(in EUR) activity activity % activity activity %

Revenue

Related party transaction with:

Entities controlled by Government 21,604,978    18,852,093    

Entities that control the Company's parent 3,227            13,666          

21,608,205    92,191,719    23    18,865,759    82,369,154   23    

Other operating costs

Related party transaction with:

Key management personnel of the Group 682,362        635,511        

Related parties other than the parent and key 

management personnel of the Group 3,039,195     3,476,837     

3,721,557     37,761,293    10    4,112,348     33,795,650   12    

Related Related

The Company party Total party Total
(in EUR) activity activity % activity activity %

Revenue

Related party transaction with:

Entities controlled by Government 21,232,502    18,505,984    

Subsidiaries 2,055,760     2,043,970     

Entities that control the Company's parent 3,227            13,666          

23,291,489    88,056,060    26    20,563,620    78,447,361   26    

Other operating costs

Related party transactions with:

Key management personnel of the Company 682,362        635,511        

Related parties other than the parent and key 

management personnel of the Company 3,039,195     3,476,837     

3,721,557     36,872,098    10    4,112,348     32,789,650   13    

2018 2017

2018 2017
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34. Operating Lease Arrangements 
 
 
The Group and the Company as lessee 
 

 
 
At the reporting date, the Company and the Group had outstanding commitments under non-cancellable 
operating lease and related payments, which fall due as follows: 
 

 
 
Operating lease and related payments represent expenses for ground rents on the temporary emphyteuses 
payable by the Company to Malita Investments plc (previously to the Government of Malta) and the related 
aerodrome licence fee payable to the Government of Malta, with no renewal option included in the contracts. 
The term of the leases ranges from 58 years to 65 years and the lease payments on the temporary 
emphyteuses are adjusted upwards periodically by a specified rate. The lease expense on the temporary 
emphyteuses is allocated to commercial and non-commercial areas, being site areas with restricted access 
on the basis of the total surface area covered by the lease. The lease expense in relation to the commercial 
areas is recognised on a straight-line basis. The recognition of the lease expense in relation to the non-
commercial areas is made on a systematic basis that is considered to be most representative of the time 
pattern of the expected benefit that the Group and the Company can reasonably be expected to reap from 
the use of that part of the leased asset over the lease term on the basis of passenger movements. This 
assessment is reviewed annually to determine whether the basis that is applied in allocating the lease 
expense over the lease term continues to be appropriate. 
 
Lease payments in the previous period (2017) included a one-off charge to reflect the effect of a recalibration 
of prior years’ passenger movements. 
 
The lessor has a special privilege in relation to the obligations emanating from the temporary emphyteuses 
and a general hypothec over all the property of the Company, present and future. 
 
 
The Group and the Company as lessor  
 

  
 
At the reporting date, the Company and the Group had non-cancellable operating lease 
receivables as follows: 
 

  

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Minimum lease payments under 

operating lease and related payments 

recognised as an expense for the year 2,150,591       3,963,309       2,150,591       3,834,074       

The Group The Company

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Within one year 1,640,966       1,640,966       1,640,966       1,640,966       

In the second to fifth years inclusive 6,846,049       6,674,328       6,846,049       6,674,328       

After five years 130,578,350   132,391,038   130,578,350   132,391,038   

139,065,365   140,706,332   139,065,365   140,706,332   

The Group The Company

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Minimum lease payments under 

operating lease recognised as income 

for the year 5,996,421       5,419,213       2,868,713       2,812,328       

The Group The Company

(in EUR) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Within one year 4,148,394       3,302,822       1,363,988       942,363         

In the second to fifth years inclusive 13,160,046     11,078,958     5,618,133       3,921,567       

After five years 27,657,493     19,563,025     25,064,853     18,483,802     

44,965,933     33,944,805     32,046,974     23,347,732     

The Group The Company
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34. Operating Lease Arrangements (continued) 
 
Operating lease income receivable by the Group represents income from leases of land held on temporary 
emphyteuses. The term of the principal non-cancellable lease arrangements range between 21 and 25 years 
and the lease receivables are adjusted upwards periodically by a specified rate. It also includes income from 
the lease of commercial property to tenants. The term of these leases ranges from 1 year to 10 years and 
the lease receivables are adjusted upwards periodically by specified rates. 
 
Operating lease income receivable by the Company also includes income from the lease of land to a 
subsidiary. The term of the lease is of 25 years and the lease receivables are adjusted upwards periodically 
by a specified rate. 
 
Where the lease income is adjusted periodically by a specified rate, the lease income is recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
The Group’s income above includes an amount of EUR 3,127,708 (2017: EUR 2,940,796) generated in 
relation to the business centre. 
 
The amounts recognised by the Group as income during the year that are based on the higher of a 
percentage of sales and a minimum annual guarantee are EUR 13,099,310 (2017: EUR 11,137,376). 
 
The amounts recognised by the Company as income during the year that are based on the higher of a 
percentage of sales and a minimum annual guarantee are EUR 12,030,128 (2017: EUR 10,180,868). 
 
 

35. Material Contracts 
 
The material contracts entered into by the Company in the year ended 31 December 2018 with its current 
and former substantial shareholders and their related parties are the following: 
 
Malta Mediterranean Link Consortium Limited  
 
The provision for Technical Services by the Company’s strategic partners VIE Operations Limited and SNC-
Lavalin Inc., gives rise to an expense of EUR 164,651 (2017: EUR 1,799,172). 
 
The Government of Malta 

 

(i) The terminal and other land lease agreements with Malita Investments plc for EUR 1,144,809 (2017: 
EUR 1,144,809); 

(ii) The contract for contribution to the Malta Tourism Authority for EUR 232,937 (2017: EUR 232,937); 
the contracts for contributions payable towards the Route Development Fund that is administered 
by the Malta Tourism Authority for EUR 5,900,000 (2017: EUR 2,100,000); and a contract for the 
contribution for a calendar of events administered by the Malta Tourism Authority for EUR 1,100,000 
(2017: -) 

(iii) The contract with the Armed Forces of Malta for the security of the restricted areas at the Airport for 
an expense of EUR 1,800,000 (2017: EUR 1,800,000); 

(iv) The provision of Air Navigation Services and other services by Malta Air Traffic Services Limited for 
an expense of EUR 921,173 (2017: EUR 921,173); 

(v) The provision of Meteorological Services and other services to Malta Air Traffic Services Limited for 
revenue of EUR 736,938 (2017: EUR 736,938); 

(vi) The contract with Enemalta Corporation for fuel throughput charges generated the amount of 
EUR 441,089 (2017: EUR 403,078) in revenue; 

(vii) Licence Fee payable to the Government of Malta for the airport operation amounting EUR 496,157 
(2017: EUR 595,320). 

(viii) The ground handling and concession agreements with Air Malta p.l.c. and its subsidiaries that 
generated income of EUR 1,693,791 (2017: EUR 1,531,604). 
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36. Parent Company 
 
For the purposes of IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements, it is considered that Articles 58.2 and 
58.7 of the Company's Articles of Association combine so as to give Malta Mediterranean Link Consortium 
Limited (“MMLC”), which has its registered office at Palazzo Pietro Stiges, 60 St. Christopher Street, Valletta, 
Malta, control over the Company. MMLC has a 40% equity interest in Malta International Airport p.l.c. (the 
“Company”). 
 
MMLC’s majority shareholders are as follows: VIE (Malta) Limited (which has an equity interest of 57.1% in 
MMLC) and MMLC Holdings Malta Limited (previously SNC-Lavalin (Malta) Limited) (which has an equity 
interest of 38.75% in MMLC). During 2016, the shares in MMLC Holdings Malta Limited were acquired by 
VIE International Beteiligungsmanagement Gesellschaft mbH (“VINT”) from SNC-Lavalin Group Inc. 
 
VIE (Malta) Limited also holds an additional 10.1% equity stake in the Company. 
 
Both VIE (Malta) Limited and MMLC Holdings Malta Limited are controlled by VINT. VINT does not produce 
consolidated financial statements. The ultimate parent of the Company is Flughafen Wien AG, whose 
registered office is Postfach 1, A-1300 Wien-Flughafen. Flughafen Wien AG’s consolidated share in the 
Company amounts to 48.44%. 
 
The financial results and financial position of the Company are included in the consolidated financial 
statements of Flughafen Wien AG. Copies of these consolidated financial statements may be obtained from 
Investor Relations department of Flughafen Wien or online. 

 
 

37. Fair Values of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
 
At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities classified 
with current assets and current liabilities respectively, comprising trade and other receivables, cash, current 
loans receivable, trade and other payables, and current bank loans approximated their fair values due to the 
short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities. 
 
The fair values of non-current financial assets and non-current financial liabilities that are not measured at 
fair value and that carry a floating rate of interest, comprising bank loans and loans receivable, are not 
materially different from their carrying amounts because they carry an arm’s length interest rate that is 
repriced periodically and the margin continues to be reflective of the credit risk of the borrower at the year 
end. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) that were 
classified as available-for-sale prior to the initial application of IFRS 9 (see Note 4) is disclosed in Note 17. 
 
The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments that are not measured subsequent to initial 
recognition at fair value (see Note 40), other than investments in subsidiaries and those with carrying 
amounts that are reasonable approximations of fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3: 
 

  
  

The Group

(in EUR)

Carrying 

amount Fair value

Carrying 

amount Fair value

Fair value

level

Financial liabilities 

measured at amortised cost

 Bank loans -               -               33,016,561   33,016,561    Level 2

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
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37. Fair Values of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued) 
 
The Company’s provided three loans to a subsidiary with variable interest rates (see Note 18). Since they 
carry an arm’s length interest rate that is repriced periodically, their fair values are not materially different 
from their carrying amounts. 
 

  
 
 

38. Financial Risk Management 
 
The Group’s and the Company’s principal financial liabilities comprise trade payables (and bank loans at 31 
December 2017, which were repaid in 2018). The principal financial assets of the Group and the Company 
(other than investments in subsidiaries) are trade receivables, loans receivable, and cash and short-term 
deposits (and other investments at 31 December 2017, which were derecognised in 2018). 
 
The carrying amount of principal financial instruments (other than investments in subsidiaries) are disclosed 
below: 
 

 
 
The main risks arising from the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments are changes in interest 
rate, liquidity risk and credit risk, which are summarised below. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
The Group and the Company have cash at bank balances as disclosed in Note 29 and, at 31 December 
2017, also held bank facilities to finance its operations as disclosed in Note 23. The interest rates thereon 
and the terms of such borrowings are disclosed accordingly. The Company has also granted interest-bearing 
loans to a subsidiary as disclosed in Note 18. 

  

The Company

(in EUR)

Carrying 

amount Fair value

Carrying 

amount Fair value

Fair value

level

Financial assets measured 

at amortised cost

Loans to subsidiary 18,797,918   18,797,918    18,363,315   18,363,315    Level 2

Financial liabilities 

measured at amortised cost

 Bank loans -               -               31,291,524   31,291,524    Level 2

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

(in EUR) Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017

Other investments 17 -              107,578       -              107,578       

Loans receivable 18 -              -              18,797,918   18,363,315   

Trade and other receivables 21 18,787,242   14,292,981   18,881,875   13,887,287   

Cash and cash equivalents 29 20,253,186   38,401,907   18,553,003   36,969,444   

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 22/23 10,397,844   42,885,245   10,665,747   41,174,173   

Net gains/(losses) arising from these financial instruments are classified as follows:

Recorded in profit or loss:

Other investments 7 (7,021)          -              (7,021)          -              

Loans receivable 7 -              -              402,562       114,529       

Cash and cash equivalents 7 -              4,161           -              4,161           

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 8 (148,915)      (3,808,536)   (139,212)      (342,542)      

Trade and other receivables 21 18,157         14,289         40,578         14,289         

Recorded in other comprehensive income:

Other investments 17 -              3,930           -              3,930           

The Group The Company
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38. Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
The Group and the Company are exposed to cash flow interest rate risk on financial instruments carrying a 
floating interest rate. Management monitors the movement in interest rates and, where possible, reacts to 
material movements in such rates by restructuring its investing and financing structure. 
 
Interest Rate Risk Table 
 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all 
other variables held constant, of the Group’s and Company’s profit before tax. The Group and Company 
consider the reasonably possible changes in interest rates to be a change in 25 basis points. 
 

  
 
The effect on profit takes into consideration both interest payable and interest receivable based on the 
financial instruments as disclosed in Notes 18, 23 and 29. 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial 
loss to the Group or the Company. Financial assets which potentially subject the Group and the Company to 
concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of the following: 
 

• Trade and other receivables 

• Cash at bank balances 

• Loans receivable 
 
Such financial assets are presented net of a loss allowance, where applicable. The maximum exposure to 
credit risk is the carrying amounts of each class of asset as disclosed in Notes 18, 21 and 29 respectively. In 
the comparative period, the Company had also granted security over bank loans of one of its subsidiaries, 
as disclosed in Note 23. This guarantee ceased upon settlement of the bank loans. 
 
Management considers the quality of its financial assets as being acceptable, as further detailed below. 
 
Allowances for provision for impairment on financial assets measured at amortised cost (2017: loans and 
receivables) are made in line with the accounting policies outlined in Note 40. 
 
Trade and other receivables 
 
Credit risk with respect to trade and other receivables is managed and assessed through the adherence to 
credit control procedures, which include client acceptance procedures, and is also limited through the number 
of customers comprising the Group’s and Company’s debtor base. Outstanding trade receivables are 
regularly monitored by management. 
 
For trade receivables the Group and the Company have applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure 
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL.  
 
Where the Group has reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort 
to measure LT-ECLs on an individual instrument basis, such an individual assessment is carried out. LT-
ECLs on the remaining financial assets are measured on a collective basis, using a provision matrix, 
estimated based on historical credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted 
as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of future economic conditions.  
 
  

Increase or 

Decrease The Group The Company

(basis points) (in EUR) (in EUR)

+ 25 50,633             93,377             

- 25 (50,633)            (93,377)            

+ 25 13,463             57,236             

- 25 (13,463)            (57,236)            

2018

2017

Effect on Profit before tax
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38. Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
Trade receivables – tested individually: 
 

 
 
 
Trade receivables – tested collectively: 
 
The table below details the risk profile of trade receivables for which a provision matrix is applied: 
 

 
 
The same Expected Credit Loss Rates are applied to the Company’s debtors with a gross carrying amount 
of EUR 17,154,041, resulting in a net carrying amount of EUR 17,091,024 and a collective LT-ECL of 
EUR 63,017, of which an amount of EUR 30,833 is in relation to trade debtors that are more than 360 days 
past due. 
 
The second largest single customer of the Group, Air Malta p.l.c., which is currently going through a 
restructuring process, accounts for EUR 3.4 million (2017: EUR 2.9 million) of the Group’s trade and other 
receivables at year end and 23% (2017: 23%) of the Group’s revenue for the year (recorded in all segments). 
The Company’s exposure to this customer is not materially different to that of the Group. The maximum 
exposure to this customer during a period of increased trading, in particular in the summer months at normal 
credit terms, is expected to be in the region of EUR 5.4 million (2017: EUR 4.2 million). The Board feels 
confident that the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to Air Malta p.l.c. will not jeopardize in any way the 
Group’s ability to continue operations for the foreseeable future and that Air Malta p.l.c. will meet its 
obligations.   

The Group LT-ECL

(in EUR)

 (credit-impaired 

but not POCI)

Internal rating grades

Performing -                     

In default 98,836                

Gross carrying amount at 31 December 2018 98,836                

Loss allowance at 31 December 2018 (98,836)               

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2018 -                     

The Company LT-ECL

(in EUR)

 (credit-impaired 

but not POCI)

Internal rating grades

Performing -                     

In default 70,696                

Gross carrying amount at 31 December 2018 70,696                

Loss allowance at 31 December 2018 (70,696)               

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2018 -                     

The Group

31 December 2018

(in EUR)

Current (not past due) 0.1% 7,525,738     7,526            7,518,212     

30 to 90 Days 0.1% 8,592,934     8,593            8,584,341     

91 to 180 Days 2.7% 422,536        11,408          411,128        

181 to 270 Days 10.4% 27,196          2,828            24,368          

271 to 360 Days 32.3% 11,972          3,869            8,103            

> 360 Days 100.0% 28,793          28,793          -               

16,609,169    63,017          16,546,152    

Expected 

Credit Loss 

Rate

Gross 

Carrying 

Amount LT-ECL

Net Carrying 

Amount
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38. Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
Cash at bank balances 
 
The cash at bank balances held by the Group and the Company are disclosed in Note 29. 
 
Currently the Group holds its cash at bank balances with reputable and investment grade rated banking 
institutions (1 January 2018: BBB+ by Standard & Poor’s and BBB by Fitch, 31 December 2018: BBB by 
Standard & Poor’s and BBB by Fitch). 
 

 
 
Loans receivable 
 
Loans receivable of the Company are disclosed in Note 18. 
 
The credit risk in connection with the Company’s loans receivable from a subsidiary is contained within the 
Group. 
 

 
 
 
Liquidity Risk 
 
The tables below summarise the maturity profile of the Group’s and Company’s financial liabilities at 31 
December 2017 and 2018 based on contractual undiscounted payments. 
 

 
  

Provision for Retirement Benefit Fund The Group The Company

(in EUR) 12m-ECL 12m-ECL

External rating grades

BBB (Fitch), BBB (S&P) 20,253,186       18,553,003       

Gross/Net Carrying Amount at 31 December 2018 20,253,186       18,553,003       

Provision for Retirement Benefit Fund The Company

(in EUR) 12m-ECL

Internal rating grades

Performing 18,797,918       

Gross/Net Carrying Amount at 31 December 2018 18,797,918       

The Group

31 December 2018

(in EUR) < 1 year 1-5 Years > 5 years

Other payables 8,352,995      8,352,995      8,352,995      

Trade payables 2,044,849      2,044,849      2,044,849      

10,397,844    10,397,844    10,397,844    -               -               

-               

The Group

31 December 2017

(in EUR) < 1 year 1-5 Years > 5 years

Interest bearing bank borrowings 33,016,561    35,451,010    2,243,695      8,744,775      24,462,541    

Other payables 6,521,996      6,521,996      6,521,996      

Trade payables 3,346,689      3,346,689      3,346,689      

42,885,246    45,319,695    12,112,380    8,744,775      24,462,541    

Carrying 

Amount

Gross Cash 

Flows

Carrying 

Amount

Gross Cash 

Flows
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38. Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 

 
 
The Group monitors and manages its risk to a shortage of funds by monitoring forecast and actual cash 
flows. The Company has no additional undrawn bank facilities (2017: EUR 2.5 million) earmarked for capital 
expenditure projects and no overdraft facilities (2017: no overdraft facilities). 
 
Capital Management  
 
One of the objectives of the Group and the Company is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and 
healthy capital ratios by means of proper management of its capital. The Group and the Company manage 
their capital structure and make adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. No changes 
were made in the objectives and processes during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 
2017.  
 
The Company monitors its capital requirement on a periodic basis taking into account its current 
requirements. Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders and other reserves (and bank loans 
at 31 December 2017, which were repaid in 2018). Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group 
and the Company balance their overall capital structure through the payments of dividends, new share issues 
as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. The Group’s and Company’s policy in 
managing capital has remained unchanged from the prior year. 
 
 

39. Events after the Reporting Period 
 
Subsequent to 31 December 2018, the Company has granted an unsecured loan of EUR 20 million to one 
of its subsidiaries for the construction of a multi-storey car park on the site of the temporary emphyteusis. 
The interest rate comprises a margin which is over and above the bank base rate. 
 
In addition, the Company replaced the existing concession agreement with one of its subsidiaries governing 
the operation of car parks on land held by the Company with a lease agreement for the areas on which the 
car parks are situated. The lease agreement commenced on 1 January 2019 and covers a term of 30 years. 
 
Other than the above, all events occurring after the balance sheet date until the date of authorisation for 
issue of these financial statements and that are relevant for valuation and measurement as of 31 December 
2018 for the Group and the Company, such as outstanding legal proceedings or claims for damages and 
other obligations or impending losses that must be recognised or disclosed in accordance with IAS 10 – are 
included in these consolidated financial statements. 
 
  

The Company

31 December 2018

(in EUR) < 1 year 1-5 Years > 5 years

Other payables 8,663,238      8,663,238      8,663,238      

Trade payables 2,002,509      2,002,509      2,002,509      

10,665,747    10,665,747    10,665,747    -               -               

-               

The Company

31 December 2017

(in EUR) < 1 year 1-5 Years > 5 years

Interest bearing bank borrowings 31,291,524    33,410,682    2,118,366      8,250,787      23,041,529    

Other payables 6,608,953      6,608,953      6,608,953      

Trade payables 3,273,696      3,273,696      3,273,696      

41,174,173    43,293,331    12,001,015    8,250,787      23,041,529    
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40. Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Scope of Consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements include all subsidiaries, with the exception of Kirkop PV Farm Limited, 
as its economic significance and influence on the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of 
the Group is immaterial. The net liability position of Kirkop PV Farm Limited is under EUR 3,000 (2017: under 
EUR 3,000). Kirkop PV Farm Limited did not commence to trade by the balance sheet date. 
 
The 2018 and 2017 consolidated financial statements include Malta International Airport p.l.c as well as three 
domestic subsidiaries that are controlled by Malta International Airport p.l.c.  
 
Subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements 2018 and 2017 are Airport Parking Limited, 
Sky Parks Development Limited and Sky Parks Business Centre Limited. For financial information on these 
subsidiaries see Note 16. 
 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as that of the 
Company, using consistent accounting policies. All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses 
and profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full. 
 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains 
control or from the date of set-up under the control of the Company, and continue to be consolidated until 
the date such control ceases. 
 

Fair Value 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
 
For financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3, based on the 
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs 
to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows: 
 

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
the entity can access at the measurement date; 

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

 
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the 
Company determines when transfers are deemed to have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy at the 
end of each reporting period. 
 

Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
The Group’s and the Company’s property, plant and equipment are classified into the following classes – 
land held as temporary emphyteusis, buildings and furniture, fixtures, plant and equipment. 
 
Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. Such cost includes borrowing costs for long-
term construction projects, if the recognition criteria are met. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Group or the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Expenditure on repairs and 
maintenance of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an expense when incurred. 
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40. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, buildings are stated at revalued amounts close to the date of the 
privatisation of the Company in 2002 less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. Other tangible assets are stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. 
 
Every year, the difference between depreciation of buildings based on their fair value close to the date of the 
privatisation of the Company in 2002 and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost prior to the original 
revaluation is transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained earnings. When the asset is derecognised, 
the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings. 
 
Property, plant and equipment are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from their use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition represent the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount. Any gains or losses arising on 
derecognition are included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised. 
 
Land held on temporary emphyteusis relates to the land assigned to the Group and the Company by title of 
temporary emphyteusis. The value of the land held on temporary emphyteusis is amortised over the 
remaining term of the lease. 
 

Properties in the Course of Construction 
 
Properties in the course of construction for production supply or administrative purposes are classified as 
property, plant and equipment and are carried at cost less any identified impairment loss. Cost includes 
professional fees, and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Company's 
accounting policy on borrowing costs. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property 
assets, commences when the assets are available for use. 
 
Properties in the course of construction for future use as investment property are classified as investment 
property. Existing investment property that is being redeveloped for continued future use as investment 
property continues to be classified as investment property. 
 

Investment Property 
 
Investment property is property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Investment property 
is recognised as an asset when it is probable that the future economic benefits that are associated with the 
investment property will flow to the entity and the cost can be measured reliably. Investment property is 
initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property 
is stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Investment property is derecognised on disposal or when it is permanently withdrawn from use and no future 
economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Gains or losses on derecognition represent the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount, and are recognised in profit or loss in 
the period of derecognition. 
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40. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Depreciation 
 
Depreciation commences when the depreciable assets are available for use and is charged to profit or loss, 
so as to write off the cost less any estimated residual value, over their estimated useful lives, using the 
straight-line method, on the following bases: 
 

Land held on temporary 
emphyteusis 

by equal annual instalments over the remaining term of the 
emphyteusis 

Buildings 2% - 4-5% per annum 

Furniture, fixtures, plant 
and equipment 

10% - 33 1/3% per annum 

Investment property 5% - 15% per annum 

 
The depreciation method applied, the residual value and the useful life are reviewed at each financial year 
end and adjusted prospectively, as appropriate. 
 

Borrowing Costs 
 
Borrowing costs include the costs incurred in obtaining external financing and mainly consist of interest on 
bank loans. Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset, which is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use 
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the respective assets. All other borrowing costs are expensed as 
incurred. 
 

Investments in Subsidiaries 
 
A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Company. The Company controls an investee when the 
Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Investment in subsidiaries in the separate 
financial statements of the Company is accounted for on the basis of the direct equity interest and is stated 
at cost less any provisions for impairment, where in the opinion of the directors, any impairment in value has 
taken place. Dividends from the investment are recognised in profit or loss. 
 

Impairment of Non-financial assets and Investments in Subsidiaries  
 
At each reporting date, the carrying amount of assets other than financial assets measured at amortised cost 
(2017 – loans and receivables), including property, plant and equipment, investment property and 
investments in subsidiaries is reviewed to determine whether there is any indication or objective evidence of 
impairment, as appropriate, and if any such indication or objective evidence exists, the recoverable amount 
of the asset is estimated. 
 
In the case of such assets tested for impairment, the recoverable amount is the higher of fair value (which is 
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date) less costs of disposal and value-in-use (which is the present 
value of the future cash flows expected to be derived, discounted using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset). Where the 
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 
recoverable amount, as calculated. 
 
Impairment losses are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case, the impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income against the asset’s 
revaluation surplus to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation 
surplus for that asset.  
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40. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Impairment of Non-financial assets and Investments in Subsidiaries (continued) 
 
An impairment loss recognised in a prior year is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. Where an 
impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 
years. 
 
Impairment reversals are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case, the impairment reversal is recognised directly in other comprehensive income, unless 
an impairment loss on the same asset was previously recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Other Financial Instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group entities become a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised at 
their fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs for all financial assets or financial liabilities not 
classified at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount presented in the Statement of Financial 
Position when the Group entities have a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and intend 
either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets 
expire or when the entity transfers the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for derecognition. Financial 
liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished. This occurs when the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.  
 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Company after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs. Ordinary shares issued by the Company are classified as equity instruments. 
 

Other Financial Assets 
 
This accounting policy is in relation to the following other financial assets: 
 

• Trade and other receivables 

• Cash at bank balances 

• Loans receivable 
 
Comparative year 
 
In the comparative year, the significant accounting policies for other financial assets were as follows: 
 

­ Trade and other receivables are classified with current assets and are stated at their nominal 
value unless the effect of discounting is material. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable 
amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. 

 
­ Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are either 

designated in this category by the Group and the Company or not classified as loans and 
receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. After 
initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at their fair value, except for 
investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted price in an active market for an identical 
instrument (that is, a Level 1 input) and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, which are 
measured at cost. Where applicable gains and losses arising from a change in fair value are 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and foreign 
exchange gains and losses on monetary assets, until the financial asset is derecognised, at which 
time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised 
in profit or loss. 

  



Malta International Airport p.l.c. 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
Year Ended 31 December 2018 

 

67 

40. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Other Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

­ Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market other than those that are held for trading or are designated 
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss or as available-for-sale financial assets 
or those for which the company may not recover substantially all of its initial investment other than 
because of credit deterioration. After initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 
Current year 
 
In the current year, the significant accounting policies for other financial assets are as follows: 
 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at either amortised cost (AC), fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The classification 
is based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow 
characteristics: 
 

­ A financial asset is measured at AC if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold 
assets to collect contractual cash flows and its cash flows are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding, to the extent that the financial asset is not designated 

at FVTPL (fair value option). 

­ A financial asset is measured at FVOCI if it is held within a business model whose objective is 
achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and its cash flows 
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, to the extent that 
the financial asset is not designated at FVTPL (fair value option). 

­ An equity investment that is not held for trading may be irrevocably designated as at FVOCI with 
any subsequent changes in fair value being presented in OCI. This election is made on an 
investment-by-investment basis. Otherwise, the equity investment is measured at FVTPL. 

­ All financial assets not classified as measured at AC or FVOCI as described above are measured 
at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. 

 
On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the 
requirements to be measured at AC or at FVOCI to be measured at FVTPL, if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 
 
An assessment of business models for managing financial assets is fundamental to the classification of a 
financial asset. The Group and the Company determine the business models at a level that reflects how 
groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective. 
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40. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Other Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurement of financial assets: 
 

Classification Subsequent Measurement 

Financial Assets at FVTPL 
Other investments are classified in this category. These 
assets are subsequently measured at FV and net gains 
and losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

Financial Assets at AC 

The following financial assets are classified within this 
category – trade and other receivables, cash at bank and 
loans receivable. These assets are subsequently 
measured at AC using the effective interest method. 
Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and 
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or 
loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss. 
Trade receivables which do not have a significant 
financing component are initially measured at their 
transaction price and are subsequently stated at their 
nominal value less any loss allowance for expected credit 
losses. 

Debt Investments at FVOCI 

The Group and the Company do not have any financial 
assets classified within this category. These assets are 
subsequently measured at FV. Interest income 
calculated using the effective interest method, foreign 
exchange gains and losses and impairment are 
recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses 
are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and 
losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or 
loss. 

Equity Investments at FVOCI 

The Group and the Company do not have any financial 
assets classified within this category. These assets are 
subsequently measured at FV. Dividends are recognised 
as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly 
represents a recovery of part of the cost of the 
investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in 
OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss. 
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40. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Impairment of Other Financial Assets 
 
Comparative year 
 
In the comparative year, the significant accounting policies for the impairment of other financial assets were 
as follows: 
 
At each reporting date, the carrying amount of assets is reviewed to determine whether there is any indication 
or objective evidence of impairment, as appropriate, and if any such indication or objective evidence exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. 
 
In the case of receivables, evidence of impairment may include indications that the receivables or a group of 
receivables is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where 
observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as 
changes in economic conditions that correlate with defaults. An impairment loss is the amount by which the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
 
In addition to the above loss events, objective evidence of impairment for an investment in an equity 
instrument includes information about significant changes which indicate that the cost of the investment in 
the equity instrument may not be recovered. 
 
For receivables, if there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the loss is measured 
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount is reduced directly. 
 
The impairment loss on investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted price in an active market 
for an identical instrument (that is, a Level 1 input) and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured is 
measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.  
 
When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale asset has been recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income and there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative impairment 
loss that had been directly recognised through other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to 
profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment and is measured as the difference between the acquisition cost 
and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Impairment losses are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case, the impairment loss is recognised directly against the asset’s revaluation surplus to 
the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that asset.  
 
An impairment loss recognised in a prior year on assets other than equity instruments carried at cost because 
fair value cannot be reliably measured is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.  
 
Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 
prior years. 
 
Impairment reversals are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case, the impairment reversal is recognised directly in other comprehensive income, unless 
an impairment loss on the same asset was previously recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for an available-for-sale investment in an equity instrument are 
not reversed through profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for an available-for-sale 
investment in a debt instrument are reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the 
instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss. 
 
The impairment loss on investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted price in an active market 
for an identical instrument (that is, a Level 1 input), and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured is not 
reversed in a subsequent year.  
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40. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Impairment of Other Financial Assets (continued) 
 
Current year 
 
Credit losses are determined based on the ECL model. The ECL model applies to financial assets measured 
at amortised cost, debt investments at FVOCI, lease receivables and contract assets, but not to investments 
in equity instruments. The amount of ECLs is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk 
since the initial recognition. 
 
ECLs are probability-weighted estimates of credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as 
the weights. Credit losses are measured at the present value of all expected cash shortfalls. ECLs are 
discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. The measurement of ECLs is a function of the 
probability of default, loss given default (that is, the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the 
exposure at default. 
 
The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by 
forward-looking information, where applicable. Forward-looking information considered includes economic 
and industry indicators such as GDP, unemployment rates and/or industry projections as well as factors that 
are specific to the debtors, unless the effect is considered to be immaterial. 
 
ECLs are determined by means of a three-stage model for impairment (the general approach) based on 
changes in credit risk since initial recognition. 
 

­ Stage 1 includes financial instruments that have not had a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition or that have low credit risk at the reporting date. For these assets, 12-month ECLs 
(12-M-ECLs) are recognised. 12-M ECLs are the ECLs that result from default events that are 
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.  

 
­ Stage 2 includes financial instruments that have had a significant increase in credit risk since initial 

recognition - unless they have low credit risk at the reporting date - but that do not have objective 
evidence of impairment. For these assets, lifetime ECLs (LT-ECLs) are recognised. LT-ECLs are 
the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial asset.  

 
­ Stage 3 includes financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. 

For these assets, LT-ECLs are recognised. A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have 
occurred.  

 
Impairment gains or losses are recognized in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding 
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt 
instruments that are measured at FVOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of 
the financial asset in the statement of financial position.  
 
Loss allowances are measured according to the above outlined three-stage model (the general approach) 
except for trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component or for 
which the practical expedient for contracts that are one year or less is applied. For these financial assets the 
simplified approach is applied and LT-ECLs are recognized. 
 
Simplified approach 
 
The Group applies the simplified approach for trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a 
significant financing component. The Group’s trade receivables are of a short-term nature as they are based 
on credit terms of less than one year and, thus, do not include a significant financing component. 
 
Where the Group does not have reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost 
or effort to measure LT-ECLs on an individual instrument basis and in order to ensure that LT-ECLs are 
recognised before an asset becomes credit-impaired or an actual default occurs, LT-ECLs on the remaining 
financial assets are measured on a collective basis. 
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40. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Impairment of Other Financial Assets (continued) 
 
In such instances and where appropriate, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared credit 
risk characteristics and the LT-ECLs are estimated using a provision matrix based on actual credit loss 
experience over past years, which is adjusted to reflect current conditions and the Group’s view of economic 
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables. Such adjustments are based on factors that are specific 
to the debtors and economic and industry indicators such as GDP, unemployment rates and/or industry 
projections, where applicable, unless the effect is considered to be immaterial. 
 
Significant increase in credit risk 
 
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting 
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In 
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable 
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without 
undue cost or effort. 
 
In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition: an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial 
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating, significant deterioration in external market 
indicators of credit risk for a particular financial instrument, existing or forecast adverse changes in business, 
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the borrower’s ability to 
meet its debt obligations, an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the 
borrower, an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the borrower that results in a significant decrease in the borrower’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations. 
 
Forward-looking information considered includes economic and industry indicators such as GDP, 
unemployment rates and/or industry projections as well as factors that are specific to the debtors, unless the 
effect is considered to be immaterial 
 
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, it is presumed that the credit risk on a financial asset 
has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past 
due, unless there is reasonable and supportable information, that is available without undue cost or effort, 
that demonstrates otherwise.  
 
Despite the aforegoing, it is assumed that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the 
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a 
low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the 
near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not 
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. A financial asset 
is considered to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as 
per globally understood definitions. The Group and the Company have applied the low credit risk assumption 
for the following classes of financial assets – cash at bank with an external credit rating of Investment grade. 
 
Definition of default  
 
For internal credit risk management purposes, the Group considers it as constituting an event of default when 
historical experience or information indicates that a financial asset is generally not recoverable as the debtor 
is unlikely to pay its creditors in full, without taking into account any collateral held by the Group or the 
Company. 
 
Irrespective of the above analysis, default is considered to have occurred when a financial asset is more than 
90 days past due unless reasonable and supportable information is available to demonstrate that a more 
lagging default criterion is more appropriate. The Group and the Company rebut the 90 days past due 
presumption for trade receivables since it has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a 

more lagging default criterion of 360 days past due is more appropriate. 
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40. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Impairment of Other Financial Assets (continued) 
 
Credit-impaired financial assets 
 
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired 
includes observable data about the following events: significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the 
borrower, a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the 
probability to enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic 
or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a 
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider, the disappearance of an active market for that 
financial asset because of financial difficulties. 
 
Write-off policy 
 
The Group and the Company write off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the 
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example when 
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial 
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking 
into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss. 
 

Financial Liabilities 
 
This accounting policy is in relation to the following financial liabilities: 
 

• Bank and other borrowings 

• Trade and other payables 
 
Bank and other borrowings  
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing bank loans or other borrowings are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method. Other borrowings are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method, unless the effect of discounting is immaterial. Interest expenses are recognized 
in profit or loss. 
 
Trade payables 
 
Trade payables are classified with current liabilities and are stated at their nominal value unless the effect of 
discounting is material. 
 

Cash and short-term deposits 
 
Cash and short-term deposits comprise cash on hand, demand deposit and short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. Cash and short-term deposits are stated at nominal amounts, being the amount 
recognised at inception. 
 

Inventories 
 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted 
average method and comprises expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and other costs incurred in 
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value represents the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion. 
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40. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Revenue Recognition 
 
The Group and the Company generate income from regulated revenue, unregulated revenue and leases.  
 

­ Regulated revenue comprises income from aviation services which arise from income from 
passenger services charges, security fees as well as aircraft landing and parking fees.  

 
­ Unregulated revenue consists of PRM charges, income from ground handling charges, certain car 

parking revenue, income from VIP services as well as meteorological services and other income.  
 

­ Revenue from leases reflects all income from renting office, retail, food and beverage, and 
advertising space including commissions based on sales as well as income from renting car parks. 
The accounting policies for this revenue stream are addressed in Note 40.19 below.  

 
The remainder of this note addresses the following revenue from contracts with customers – regulated 
revenue and unregulated revenue. 

 
Comparative year 
 
In the comparative year, the significant accounting policies for the recognition of revenue from the provision 
of services were as follows: 
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for services provided in 
the normal course of business, net of value-added tax and discounts, where applicable. Revenue is 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
Company and that these can be measured reliably. The following specific recognition criteria must also be 
met before revenue is recognised: 
 
Revenue from the provision of services is recognised in the year in which the services are rendered, by 
reference to completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a 
proportion of the total services to be provided. For practical purposes, when services are performed by an 
indeterminate number of acts over a specified period of time, revenue is recognised on a straight-line basis 
over the specified period unless there is evidence that some other method better represents the stage of 
completion. 
 
Current year 
 
In the current year, the significant accounting policies for the recognition of revenue are as follows: 
 
Revenue from contracts with customers is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with 
a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group and the Company recognise 
such revenue when (or as) they satisfy a performance obligation by transferring control of a promised good 
or service to the customer. 
 
Regulated revenue 
 
Regulated revenue constitutes income based on fees that are subject to the Airport Economic Regulations. 
These fees are charged to airlines and aircraft operators for the use of the airport infrastructure and include 
passenger service charges as well as landing, parking and security fees.  
 
The performance obligation is to make the airport available as and when each airline makes use of it. The 
transaction price follows a set fee structure and is based on a variety of underlying metrics, such as the 
number of departing passengers, and the maximum take-off weight, which metrics become known by the 
time the services are provided and thus no significant estimates are required in this respect. 
 
In determining the transaction price, consideration is taken of variable fee-reducing rebates based on 
incentive agreements. Incentives are deducted from revenue in full and are included within the line item 
‘Trade and other payables’. Any such incentives which are not taken up are recognised as revenue only 
when it is highly probable that a significant reversal will not occur, that is, when the uncertainty associated 
with the incentives is subsequently resolved.  
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40. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Revenue Recognition (continued) 
 
The performance obligation in relation to regulated revenue is satisfied over time, which corresponds to the 
revenue recognition methodology applied in terms of IAS 18. A receivable is recognised as the services are 
provided and included in the line item ‘Trade and other receivables’ until the actual payment is made by the 
respective customers.  
 
In determining the transaction price, consideration is also made of contributions payable to airlines through 
a government entity, in an effort to improve the number of passengers departing from the airport, thus 
resulting in additional revenues to the Company and the Group. Such contributions are payable to an Air 
Route Development Fund that is administered by the government entity, with a particular focus being made 
on the timing and destination of strategic routes which result in increased revenues. The allocations that are 
made by this Fund to the respective airlines are subject to the satisfaction by the airlines of the conditions 
attaching to eligibility for such contributions and accordingly any revenues disclosed in Notes 5 and 33 are 
gross of any such contributions. The amounts payable by the Company and the Group to the Fund are non-
refundable and vary with the number of passenger departures, subject to a fixed cap. These amounts are 
treated as a reduction of the transaction price (and therefore, of revenue) since such payments are not 
considered to be in exchange for a distinct good or service that the customers, or the government entity, 
transfer to the Company or the Group. These amounts are included within the line item ‘Trade and other 
payables’ until they are settled. No estimates are required in this regard since the extent of the consideration 
payable is dependent on the number of passenger departures and thus corresponds to the Company’s and 
the Group’s efforts to satisfy its performance obligation, with such allocation being consistent with the 
objective of allocating the transaction price in an amount that depicts the amount of consideration to which 
the Company and the Group expect to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised services to the 
customers. 
 
Unregulated revenue 
 
Unregulated revenue is income based on charges that are not regulated, but subject to fee structures that 
are negotiated with the Group’s customers. Fees for each service are uniform among all customers.  
 

­ PRM fees are charged to airlines in order to recover costs emanating to the Group for the provision 
of assistance to persons with reduced mobility (PRM) in line with Regulation (EC) 1107/2006. The 
performance obligation is to arrange the required services for persons with reduced mobility on 
behalf of the airline or aircraft operator. The transaction price is represented by a set fee that is 
based on the number of departing passengers of an airline or aircraft operator. The performance 
obligation is satisfied over time. 

 
­ Ground handling concession income is revenue from ground handling and infrastructure 

providers for the right to provide their services (ground handling, fuelling) within the airport perimeter 
for the duration of the respective contracts. The performance obligation is to make the maintained 
airport infrastructure and equipment available so that the ground handling provider is able to provide 
its services to airlines and aircraft operators. The transaction price follows a fee structure that is 
based on a variety of underlying metrics, such as the number of departing passengers, aircraft 
movements, maximum take-off weight, kilograms of freight and mail and litres of fuel. The Group 
has determined that it provides a daily service of access that is distinct, with the uncertainty related 
to the consideration receivable being also resolved on that basis and accordingly no further 
estimates are required in this regard. The performance obligation is satisfied over time, which 
corresponds to the revenue recognition methodology applied in terms of IAS 18. A receivable is 
recognised as the services are provided and included in the line item “Trade and other receivables” 
until the actual payment is made by the respective ground handling provider. 

 
­ Car parking income primarily represents revenue generated through the provision of car parking 

spaces at the car parks within the airport perimeter, other than revenue from rental income resulting 
from the lease of car parks which is addressed by the accounting policy on leases. The performance 
obligation is to provide and maintain car parking space for the duration of the stay. The transaction 
price follows a pre-determined fee structure that is based on parking time and that is payable 
immediately upon use. The performance obligation is satisfied over time. Besides, income from the 
sale of car park access cards, which allow customers to make use of the car park over a fixed period 
of time, is recognised over time on straight-line basis for the duration of the contract. The accounting 
policy for car parking income corresponds to the revenue recognition methodology applied in terms 
of IAS 18.  
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40. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Revenue Recognition (continued) 
 

­ Income from VIP services primarily represents revenue generated through the provision of 
services, such as access to airport lounges and ancillary services (e.g. porterage, meet-and-greet). 
The Group’s performance obligation is to provide the services if and when requested by customers 
in line with underlying terms and conditions. The transaction price follows a fixed price structure. 
The performance obligation is satisfied over time, which corresponds to the revenue recognition 
methodology applied in terms of IAS 18. In addition, the Group issues membership cards that enable 
members to make use of a variety of VIP services and facilities provided by the airport, such as 
lounges and access to car parks, over a fixed period. Such revenue is recognised over time on a 
straight-line basis for the duration of the contract with any deferred income being recognised as a 
contract liability within the line item ‘Trade and other payables’. The accounting policy corresponds 
to the revenue recognition methodology applied in terms of IAS 18. 

 
­ Revenue from meteorological services is generated from the provision of meteorological services 

to Malta Air Traffic Services (MATS). The Group’s performance obligation is to provide 
meteorological services in respect of air navigation as well as for public, maritime and agricultural 
purposes and to maintain the equipment and facilities necessary to do so over the specified 
contractual period. The transaction price is a contractually agreed amount recognised over the term 
of the agreement. The performance obligation is satisfied over time, which corresponds to the 
revenue recognition methodology applied in terms of IAS 18. 

 
In addition to the above-mentioned revenue streams, the Group and the Company generate other income 
that is classified within unregulated revenue, which arises from a variety of services, such as the issuance of 
security passes, the provision of luggage trolleys, lost and found services and left luggage. 
 

Interest income 
 
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured 
subsequently at amortised cost or at FVTOCI. Interest income is recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that future economic benefits will flow to the Group entity and these can be measured reliably. 
 

Grants 
 
Grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that all the conditions attached to them are 
complied with and the grants will be received. Grants related to income are recognised in the profit or loss 
over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs which they are intended to compensate on 
a systematic basis. Such grants are presented as part of profit or loss. Grants related to assets are presented 
in the Statement of Financial Position as deferred income, which is recognised as income on a systematic 
basis over the useful life of the asset. 
 

Deferred Income 
 
Deferred income arising from the gain on disposal of the buildings and fixtures that took place on the date of 
the privatisation of the Company in 2002 is transferred separately to the income statement in equal annual 
instalments over the remaining life of the underlying assets. 
 

Leases 
 
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. Lease 
classification is made at the inception of the lease, which is the earlier of the date of the lease agreement 
and the date of commitment by the parties to the principal provisions of the lease. 
 
Where the Company is a lessee, rentals payable under operating leases less the aggregate benefit of 
incentives received from the lessor, are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the users’ 
benefit. Where the Company is a lessor, rentals receivable under operating leases are recognised as income 
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term unless another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern in which use benefit derived from the leased asset is diminished. 
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40. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Taxation 
 
Current and deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or loss, except when it relates to items charged or 
credited directly in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred 
tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income or equity as appropriate. 
 
The charge for current tax is based on the taxable result for the year. The taxable result for the year differs 
from the result as reported in profit or loss because it excludes items which are non-taxable or disallowed for 
tax purposes and it further excludes items that are taxable or deductible in other periods. The tax charge is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences 
arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and 
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.  
 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets 
(including deferred tax assets for the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits) are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences (or the unused tax losses and unused tax credits) can be utilised. Deferred tax is 
calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability 
is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  
 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to 
be recovered from or paid to taxation authorities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group 
and the Company have a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and the deferred taxes are levied by the same taxation authority on either (i) the same taxable entity; or (ii) 
different taxable entities which satisfy certain criteria.  

 

Employee Benefits 
 
Employee benefits include short-term benefits and post-employment benefits. 
 
Short-term employee benefits 
 
The Group and the Company contribute towards the state pension fund in accordance with local legislation. 
The only obligation of the Group and the Company is to make the required contribution. Costs are expensed 
in the year in which they are incurred. 
 
Retirement plans 
 
For defined benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, 
with estimations being carried out at each reporting date. Past service cost is recognised as an expense at 
the earlier of the following dates (a) when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs and (b) when the entity 
recognises related restructuring costs or termination benefits. The amount recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position represents the present value of the expected future payments required to settle the 
obligation resulting from employee service in the current and prior periods. The service cost and the net 
interest on the net defined benefit liability are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, comprising actuarial gains and losses are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and are not reclassified to profit or loss in a subsequent period. Such 
remeasurements are reflected immediately in retained earnings. 
 
Actuarial gains and losses are changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from 
experience adjustments and the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions. Actuarial assumptions are an 
entity’s best estimates of the variables that will determine the ultimate cost of providing post-employment 
benefits. 
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40. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured 
at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the 
reporting period. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting 
the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Provisions are not recognised for future 
operating losses. 

 

Currency Translation 
 
Transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are translated at the exchange 
rates ruling on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other 
than the functional currency are retranslated to the functional currency at the spot rate of exchange ruling at 
the date of the Statement of Financial Position. All differences are taken to the income statement.  Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a currency other than the functional currency 
are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items 
measured at fair value in a currency other than the functional currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair value is determined. 
 

Dividends  
 
Dividends to holders of equity instruments are recognised as liabilities in the year in which they are declared. 
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Report on the audit of the financial statements  
 
Opinion  
 
We have audited the individual financial statements of Malta International Airport p.l.c. (the Company) and the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the Group), set out on pages 21 
to 77, which comprise the Statements of Financial Position of the Company and the Group as at 31 December 
2018, and the Statements of Comprehensive Income, Statements of Changes in Equity and Statements of Cash 
Flows of the Company and the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Company and the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of the Company’s and the Group’s financial performance 
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 
adopted by the European Union and have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act (Cap. 386). 
 

Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the Group in accordance with the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with 
the Accountancy Profession (Code of Ethics for Warrant Holders) Directive (Maltese Code) that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Malta, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the IESBA Code and the Maltese Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. In conducting our audit, we have remained independent of the 
Company and the Group and have not provided any of the non-audit services prohibited by article 18A(1) of the 
Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281). 
 

Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement 
(whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. The key audit matters described below pertain to the audit of both 
the individual and the consolidated financial statements.  These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the individual and consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 

Impact of new accounting standards 

Significant changes in accounting standards relevant to the Company and the Group (together, MIA) came into 
effect for the financial year ended 31 December 2018. In particular, IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers established a comprehensive framework for considering whether, how much and when revenue is 
recognised, and included in IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (as revised in 2014) is a new model of expected credit 
losses to calculate impairment of financial assets. IFRS 16 - Leases is effective as from the financial year ending 31 
December 2019, and brings most leases on-balance sheet for lessees under a single model, thus eliminating for 
lessees the distinction between operating and finance leases. Given the significance of MIA's leasing transactions, 
the application of this standard is expected to result in significant adjustments to the financial statements for the 
year ending 31 December 2019. 
 
Our audit procedures included use of IFRS specialists to assess in particular (a) the manner in which MIA 
implemented the new standards on revenue and expected credit losses for the financial year ended 31 December 
2018, including the revision of applicable accounting policies and the inclusion of the required additional disclosures; 
and (b) MIA's assessment of the impact of the implementation of the new requirements on lessee accounting for the 
financial year ending 31 December 2019, including the nature and extent of the required disclosures thereon in the 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018. 
 
MIA's disclosures on this matter are primarily set out in notes 4.1, 4.2, 6, 21 and 38, with the accounting policies 
explained in note 40 to the financial statements. 
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(continued) 

 

Accounting for the lease expense in relation to non-commercial areas 

The calculation of the lease expense in relation to non-commercial areas, being site areas with restricted access, is 
a matter of applied estimation and judgement by the directors. MIA have lease payments payable to Malita 
Investments plc (previously to the Maltese Government) on an original temporary emphyteutical term of 65 years 
and the lease payments are adjusted upwards periodically by a specified rate over the lease term. The recognition 
of the lease expense in relation to non-commercial areas is systematically made on the basis of expected passenger 
movements, which is considered by the directors to be most representative of the time pattern of MIA's expected 
benefit from the use of the site areas with restricted access over the lease term. 
 
Our audit procedures included the use of IFRS specialists to assess whether the methodology applied by MIA is in 
accordance with the requirements of IFRS.  MIA's computations, which include a judgemental estimate of passenger 
movements over the term of the lease, were reviewed and tested for mathematical accuracy.  A sensitivity analysis 
to assess the impact of changes in significant assumptions underlying the calculations was also performed. We also 
reviewed the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements. 
 
MIA's disclosures on this matter are set out in notes 3 and 34 to the financial statements. 
 

Information other than the financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon  
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises (i) the General Information, 
the Directors’ report, the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities and the Corporate Governance Statement of 
Compliance, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and (ii) the Chairman’s message, the Chief 
Executive Officer’s review, information on strategy and employees, the Aviation report, the Retail & Property report, 
the Sustainability Report, and supporting key data, investments and outlook information which is expected to be 
made available to us after the date of this audit report. However, the other information does not include the individual 
and consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
 
Except for our opinions on the Directors’ Report in accordance with the Companies Act (Cap. 386) and on the 
Corporate Governance Statement of Compliance in accordance with the Listing Rules issued by the Maltese Listing 
Authority, our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified 
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we 
have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard. 
 
With respect to the Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the Directors’ Report includes the disclosure 
requirements of article 177 of the Companies Act (Cap. 386), and the statement required by Listing Rule 5.62 on 
the Company’s and the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
When we read the other information expected to be made available to us after the date of this audit report and set 
out in paragraph (ii) above, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to 
communicate the matter to the Audit Committee and, if necessary, to take appropriate action, considering our legal 
rights and obligations, to seek to have an uncorrected material misstatement appropriately brought to the attention 
of users for whom the auditor’s report is prepared, for example by addressing the matter in a general meeting of 
shareholders. 
 
In accordance with the requirements of sub-article 179(3) of the Companies Act (Cap. 386) in relation to the 
Directors’ Report on pages 2 to 9, in our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 
 

• the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the individual and 

consolidated financial statements are prepared is consistent with those financial statements; and 

• the Directors’ Report has been prepared in accordance with the applicable legal requirements.  

 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company, the Group and their environment obtained in the 
course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the Directors’ Report.  
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(continued) 

 

Responsibilities of the directors and the Audit Committee for the financial statements  
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities on page 10, the directors are responsible for 
the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union and the requirements of the Companies Act (Cap.386), and for such internal control as they 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s and the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company and the Group or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The directors have delegated the responsibility for overseeing the Company’s and the Group’s financial reporting 
process to the Audit Committee. 
 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
In terms of article 179A(4) of the Companies Act (Cap. 386), the scope of our audit does not include assurance on 
the future viability of the audited entity or on the efficiency or effectiveness with which the directors have conducted 
or will conduct the affairs of the entity. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 

resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Company and the Group’s internal control.  

 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by the directors.  

 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 

cast significant doubt on the Company’s and the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 

that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 

disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 

events or conditions may cause the Company or the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 
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(continued) 

 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation. 

 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 

for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 

opinion. 

 
We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 
 
We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the individual and consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 
 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 

Report on Corporate Governance Statement of Compliance 
 
Pursuant to Listing Rule 5.94 issued by the Malta Financial Services Authority, in its capacity as the Listing Authority 
in Malta, the directors are required to include in the Company’s annual financial report a Corporate Governance 
Statement of Compliance explaining the extent to which they have adopted the Code of Principles of Good Corporate 
Governance set out in Appendix 5.1 to Chapter 5 of the Listing Rules, and the effective measures that they have 
taken to ensure compliance with those principles.  The Corporate Governance Statement of Compliance is to contain 
at least the information set out in Listing Rule 5.97. 
 
Our responsibility is laid down by Listing Rule 5.98, which requires us to include a report to shareholders on the 
Corporate Governance Statement of Compliance in the Company’s annual financial report. 
 
We read the Corporate Governance Statement of Compliance and consider the implications for our report if we 
become aware of any information therein that is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or that otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  We also review whether the 
Corporate Governance Statement of Compliance contains at least the information set out in Listing Rule 5.97. 
 
We are not required to, and we do not, consider whether the directors’ statements on internal control cover all risks 
and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s corporate governance procedures or its risk 
and control procedures. 
 
In our opinion, the Corporate Governance Statement of Compliance set out on pages 11 to 20 has been properly 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of Listing Rules 5.94 and 5.97. 
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception under the Companies Act 
 
Under the Companies Act (Cap.386), we have responsibilities to report to you if in our opinion: 

• proper accounting records have not been kept; 

• proper returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; 

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

• we have been unable to obtain all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and 

belief, are necessary for the purpose of our audit. 

 
We have nothing to report to you in respect of these responsibilities. 
 

Auditor tenure 
 
We were first appointed by the members of the Company to act as statutory auditor of the Company and the Group, 
following the Company’s equity listing in December 2002, on 9 July 2003 for the financial year ended 31 March 
2004, and were subsequently reappointed as statutory auditor by the members of the Company on an annual basis. 
The period of total uninterrupted engagement as statutory auditor including previous reappointments of the firm 
since the Company became a public interest entity covers financial periods totalling 15 years and 9 months. 
 

Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the Audit Committee 
 
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Audit Committee in accordance with the provisions 
of article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation No. 537/2014. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Bernard Scicluna as Director 
in the name and on behalf of 
Deloitte Audit Limited 
Registered auditor 
Mriehel, Malta 
 
20 February 2019 


